Case 1:08-cv-01153-HHK  Document1l  Filed 07/01/2008 Page 1 of 113

Cleared for public filing
by the CSO, 6/30/2008

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

MOHAMMED SULAYMON BARRE
Detainee,
United States Naval Station at
Guanténamo Bay, Cuba,

PETITION OF UN MANDATE
REFUGEE FOR WRIT OF
HABEAS CORPUS AND
OTHER RELIEF

Petitioner/Plaintiff,
V.

GEORGE W. BUSH,
President of the United States
The White House
1600 Pennsylvania Ave., N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20500;

No.

ROBERT M. GATES,
Secretary, United States
Department of Defense
1000 Defense Pentagon
Washington, D.C. 20301-1000;

REAR ADM. DAVID M. THOMAS, JR.,
Commander, Joint Task Force —~ GTMO
JTF - GTMO
APO AE 09360; and

ARMY COL. BRUCE VARGO,
Commander, Joint Detention Operations
Group, Joint Task Force ~ GTMO
JTF - GTMO
APO AE 09360,
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Respondents/Defendants.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT
1. Mohammed Sulaymon Barre (“Barre” or “Petitioner™) seeks the Great Writ. He
has been subjected to unlawful detention for more than six years and is entitled to an order
requiring his immediate release from imprisonment at the United States Naval Station at

Guantanamo Bay, Cuba (“Guantanamo™). He is entitled to relief under the historical common
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law, under the Constitution and laws of the United States, and under the Supreme Court’s
holding in Boumediene v. Bush, __ S.Ct. __, Nos. 06-1195, 06-1196, 2008 WL 2369628 (June
12, 2008).

2. Barre is from Somaliland, formerly the northern region of Somalia that declared
its independence in 1991. He fled persecution in Somalia more than a decade ago, and with the
assistance of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR), obtained asylum
in Pakistan.’

3. Barre is a civilian and a victim of wrongful imprisonment. He was gainfully
employed and living with his wife far from any battlefield when he was abducted from his home
in Pakistan in the middle of the night in November 2001; he has been detained without charge or
trial ever since. Barre was wrongly classified as an “enemy combatant™ by the President of the
United States, and is being held virtually incommunicado in military custody at the United States
Naval Station at Guantanamo Bay, Cuba (“Guantanamo™).

4. Petitioner Barre has been imprisoned for more than six and a half years in a small
cell, thousands of miles from his family, on the basis of incredible and unreliable evidence that
he was never permitted to see, much less challenge. During this period, he has been subjected to
interrogations, torture, and other cruel, inhuman and degrading treatment by U.S. officials. With
no justification, and as Petitioner Barre is in his seventh year of imprisonment, Respondents
continue to claim that, as an “enemy combatant,” he may be held for as long as the United States
is fighting the so-called “Global War on Terror.”

5. Petitioner Barre is not now, and has never been, a terrorist or terrorist

sympathizer. Barre is not a combatant under U.S. and international law. He is not a member of

! UNHCR has provided undersigned counsel with documentation and information confirming
Petitioner’s refugee status and his numerous interactions with the UNHCR office in Pakistan and
its affiliates during the decade in which he was under their protection in Pakistan. See
Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees, July 28, 1951, 189 UN.T.S. 150.
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any nation’s military; has never fought alongside any nation’s armed forces; has not borne arms
against the United States or its allies anywhere in the world; was not captured on or near any
battlefield; was not captured by U.S. forces; and has never engaged in any military activity.
Petitioner was never in Afghanistan during the international armed conflict between the United
States and the Taliban government in that country, except when U.S. forces imprisoned and
tortured him at military bases in Kandahar and Bagram before sending him to Guantdnamo.

6. Barre has not violated international humanitarian or human rights law, and is not
an “unlawful” combatant. Nor has he been found by any tribunal, competent or otherwise, to be
an “unlawful enemy combatant,” a category of combatant heretofore unrecognized under U.S.
and international law. See Brief of 4mici Curiae Specialists in the Law of War at 3, 13, 4l-
Marri v. Wfight, 487 F.3d 160 (4™ Cir. 2006) (No. 06-7427) (noting that the government has
used “various constructions of enemy combatant since 2001,” which are of “unprecedentedly
broad and vague scope,” and asserting that this practice conflicts with the laws of war). Barre is
thus not subject to trial by military commission.

7. Barre is detained without lawful basis, without charge, and without any fair
process by which he might challenge his detention. He is a civilian under U.S. and international
law. However, Respondents continue to imprison him without charge or trial in military
custody; have not allowed undersigned counsel meaningful access to him in Guantdnamo; and
have refused fo provide any factual or legal basis for his indefinite detention. Respondents also
notably failed to notify UNHCR that there were internationally recognized refugees imprisoned
at Guantanamo, including Petitioner Barre, until UNHCR discovered this information on its own
and wrote to Respondent in December 2006, See Carol Rosenberg, Two with Refugee Status

Found in Detention Camp, Miami Herald, Jan. 30, 2007, at A3.
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8. Instead, after holding Petitioner virtually incommunicado for more than two years
after his arrival at Guantanamo, Respondents subjected him to a Combatant Status Review
Tribunal (“CSRT”), which, pursuant to a July 2004 Department of Defense (“DOD”) order, was
supposed to determine whether he should be detained indefinitely in military custody as an
“enemy combatant.”

9. The order establishing the CSRTs defines “enemy combatant™ as “an individual
who was part of or supporting Taliban or al Qaeda forces, or associated forces that are engaged
in hostilities against the United States or its coalition partners,” including “any person who has
committed a belligerent act or has directly supported hostilities in aid of enemy armed forces.”
See supra note 2. That definition is inconsistent with, and impermissibly exceeds, the definition
of an “enemy combatant” under Hamdi v. Rumsfeld, 542 1U.S. 507, 516 (2004) (involving alleged
“enemy combatant” who was “part of or supporting forces hostile to the United States or
coalition partners i Afghanistan and who were engaged in an armed conflict against the United
States there.”). It is also inconsistent with, and impermissibly exceeds, the President’s authority
as Commander-in-Chief, under the laws and usages of war, and under Joint Resolution 23,
Authorization for Use of Military Force, Public Law 107-40, 115 Stat. 224 (Jan. 18, 2001)
(“AUME™).

10.  The CSRT panel wrongly classified Petitioner as an “enemy combatant.” This
determination was not based on an individualized assessment of evidence presented against
Petitioner at his CSRT, and is not supported by a preponderance of the evidence against him. In
particular, while the CSRT purported to conclude by a preponderance of the evidence that
Petitioner was an enemy combatant, the panel reached this conclusion despite: (i} Petitioner’s

consistent denials that he is or ever was associated with al Qaeda or the Taliban; and (i1) the

* The July 2004 order and other CSRT regulations, as amended on July 14, 2006, are available at
http://www.defenselink. mil/news/Aug2006/d20060809CSR TProcedures.pdf.
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complete absence of credible evidence in the record that Petitioner is or ever was associated with
al Qaeda, the Taliban, or any group engaged in hostilities against the United States; and (iii)
available credible evidence not included in the record that conflicts with the allegations against
him.

11. Petitioner is not, and has never been, an enemy combatant. Indeed, on
information and belief, while Respondents and other Executive Branch officials have
subsequently maintained publicly that Petitioner is an enemy combatant in order to justify his
ongoing imprisonment, Respondents and other Executive Branch officials have also had
discussions with UNHCR and foreign governments concerning resettlement of Petitidner. His
imprisonment thus continues not because there is any legitimate reason for it, but because
Respondents, by holding Petitioner in Guantdnamo without access to UNHCR or his counsel,
and by branding him an enemy combatant, have made it politically difficult for another country
to grant him refuge. On information and belief, the United States also refuses to grant asylum to
Petitioner because to do so would undermine the repeated, demonstrably false assertions that
most or all of the detainees in Guantdnamo are dangerous terrorists who plotted against the
United States.

12.  Petitioner thus has been denied the exoneration that the facts in his case would
otherwise compel. Instead, he has been imprisoned for more than six years in a small cell,
thousands of miles from his family, on the basis of incredible and unreliable evidence that he
was never permitted to see, much less challenge. During this period, he has been subjected to
interrogations, torture, and other cruel, inhuman and degrading treatment by U.S. officials. And
as Petitioner embarks on his seventh year of indefiniie detention at Guantdnamo, Respondents
continue to claim that, as an enemy combatant, Petitioner Barre may be held for as long as the

United States is fighting the so-called “Global War on Terror.”
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13.  Petitioner now seeks the Great Writ of Habeas Corpus. He is entitled to habeas
corpus under the historical common law, the Constitution and laws of the United States, and the
United States Supreme Court’s decision in Boumediene v. Bush, 8. Ct. __  Nos. 06-1195,
06-1196, 2008 WI. 2369628 (June 12, 2008), because he is imprisoned by Respondents and
other Executive officials without charge or trial in violation of U.S. and international law,
including the Geneva Conventions.

14. Petitioner also seeks additional relief, see infra Part V, including immediate entry
of the standard protective order applicable to most Guantanamo detainee habeas cases, and
immediate production of a factual return to this Petition, including production to his security-
cleared counsel of all reasonably available information in the possession, custody or control of
the U.S. government that bears on the issue of whether he should have been or continues to be
designated as an enemy combatant, whether or not such information heretofore has been
compiled.

15. Petitioner is detained without lawful basis, without charge, and without any fair
process by which he might challenge his detention. He is being held under color and authority of
the Executive, and in violation of the Constitution, laws and treaties of the United States as well
as in violation of customary international law. Accordingly, this Court should issue a Writ of
Habeas Corpus compelling Respondents either to release him or to establish in this Court a
lawful basis for his detention. This Court should also order injunctive and declaratory relief as is
necessary to protect Petitioner’s access to this Court, his access to and opportunity to consult
with counsel, his right to be free from torture and the transfer to torture, and his physical and
mental health to the extent necessary to enable him to participate in and pursue the litigation of

this case.
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L
JURISDICTION

16.  Petitioner Barre brings this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 2241(a), (cX1) and
(cX3) and 2242, and invokes this Court’s jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1350, 1651,
2201, and 2202; 5 U.S.C. § 702; and Articles I, Il and Il of, and the Fifth and Sixth
Amendments to, the United States Constitution, because he is detained under or by color of the
authority of the United States, or is in custody in violation of the Constitution, laws, or treaties of
the United States. Because he seeks declaratory relief, Petitioner also relies on Fed. R. Civ. P.
57.

17.  This Court is empowered under 28 U.S.C. § 2241 to grant this Writ of Habeas
Corpus and to entertain the instant Petition under 28 U.S.C. § 2242. This Court is further
empowered to entertain the Petition pursuant to the United States Supreme Court’s rulings in
Rasul v. Bush, 342 U.S. 466 (2004) and Boumediene v. Bush, __ S.Ct. __, Nos. 06-1195, 06-
1196 (June 12, 2008).

18.  This Court is further empowered to declare the rights and other legal relations of
the parties herein by 28 U.S.C. § 2201; to effectuate and enforce declaratory relief by all
necessary and proper means by 28 U.S.C. § 2202, as this case involves an actual controversy
within the Court’s jurisdiction; and to issue all writs necessary or appropriate in aid of its
jurisdiction by 28 U.S.C. § 1651.

19.  This Court also has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1343(a)(4) because
Petitioner is seeking to redress deprivation of rights guaranteed by the Constitution, laws, and
treaties of the United States.

20.  This Court also has jurisdiction pursvant to 5 U.S.C. § 702 because Petitioner is

suffering legally cognizable harm because of agency action, or has been adversely affected or
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aggrieved by agency action within the meaning of the relevant statutes, and is entitled to judicial
review thereof.

21.  Jurisdiction and venue reside in this judicial district because the United States
exercises exclusive territorial jurisdiction and control over the United States Naval base at
Guantinamo, Cuba, where Petitioner is detained; and because the Executive Order of November
13, 2001, Detention, Treatment, and Trial of Certain Non-Citizens in the War Against Terrorism,
66 Fed. Reg. 57, 833 (November 13, 2001) (“Executive Order”), was promuigated in the United
States and in this judicial district, Respondents made the decision to incarcerate and detain
Petitioner in the United States and in this judicial district.

IL
PARTIES

22.  Petitioner Mohammed Sulaymon Barre was born in the northwestern region of
Somalia that has since declared its independence as the Republic of Somaliland. He is a citizen
of Somalia and a UN mandate refugee granted protection by UNHCR in Pakistan. He is
presently incarcerated in solitary confinement in Camp VI and held in Respondents’ unlawful
custody and control at the U.S. Naval Base at Guantdnamo Bay, Cuba. He has been unlawfully
imprisoned for nearly eighty months, including more than seventy months at Guantinamo. Barre
is a son-in-law of Guantdnamo prisoner Muhamed Hussein Abdallah, a/k/a Ahmad Abu
Abduttawaab, who is also a UN mandate refugee. Barre was wrongly determined by a
Combatant Status Review Tribunal (“CSRT”) to be an enemy combatant, and is imprisoned at
Guantinamo under Respondent’s exclusive care, custody and control. Respondents refer to
Barre by his Internment Serial Number (“ISN), which is #567.

23.  Respondent George W. Bush is the President of the United States and
Commander-in-Chief of the United States military. Petitioner Barre is being detained pursuant

to President Bush’s purported authority as Commander-in-Chief, under the laws and usages of
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war or, alternatively, pursuant to the Executive Order of November 13, 2001, Detention,
Treatment, and Trial of Certain Non-Citizens in the War Against Terrorism, 66 Fed. Reg. 57,833
(November 13, 2001) (“Executive Order”). President Bush is responsible for Barre’s unlawful
detention and is sued in his official capacity.

24.  Respondent Robert M. Gates is the Secretary of the United States Department of
Defense. Pursuant to the President’s authority as Commander-in-Chief, his authority under the
laws and usages of war or, alternatively, pursuant to the Executive Order, Respondent Gates has
been charged with maintaining the custody and control of Petitioner. He is sued in his official
capacity.

25.  Respondent Rear Admiral David M. Thomas, Jr. is the Commander of Joint Task
Force — GTMO, the task force running the detention operation at Guantanamo Bay. He has
supervisory responsibility for Petitioner Barre and is sued in his official capacity.

26.  Respondent Army Colonel Bruce Vargo is the Commander of the Joint Detention
Operations Group and the Joint Task Force — GTMO detention camps, including the U.S. facility
where Petitioner Barre is presently held. He is the immediate custodian responsible for
Petitioner Barre’s detention and is sued in his official capacity.

27.  Respondents are directly responsible for any activities undertaken by or under the
supervision of any officers, agents or employees acting on their behalf, or of officers, agents or
employees of private contractors (“contractor employees™) with whom any agency under
Respondents’ authority or supervision has contracted for the provision of services at
Guantanamo. All references to Respondents’ actions in this Petition include activities performed
by Respondents’ predecessors in office, including Donald H. Rumsfeld, former Secretary of

Defense, agents or employees, other government agents or contractor employees.
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IV.
STATEMENT OF FACTS

28.  Petitioner Mohammed Sulaymon Barre is a civilian and a victim of wrongful
imprisonment. He is not, nor has he ever been, an enemy alien, lawful or unlawful belligerent, or
combatant of any kind under any definition adopted by the United States Government in any
civil or military proceeding.

29.  Petitioner Barre seeks to enforce his right to a judicial determination by an
appropriate and lawful authority as to whether there is a lawful and factual basis for
Respondents’ determination that he is either an “enemy combatant” as defined by the United
States Supreme Court in Hamdi or an “enemy combatant™ as that term is defined and used by the
Executive in the Combatant Status Review Tribunals (“CSRTs”).

30.  Petitioner Barre is a victim of unlawful imprisonment. He was seized from his
home in the middle of the night. He had been living with his wife who he has not seen for more
than six and a half years. He was transferred between U.S. military facilities in Afghanistan
before being transferred to the U.S. Naval base at Guantanamo Bay, Cuba where he has been
subjected to abuse and prolonged and indefinite executive detention without lawful process. At
the time of filing, Barre had been detained for nearly eighty months, and is presently imprisoned
in solitary confinement in a prison facility known as Camp VL

31.  Petitioner Barre is not properly detained under any authority, including President
Bush’s Commander-in-Chief authority, the laws and usages of war, and the Authorization for the
Use of Military Force (“AUMF”). See Al-Marri v. Wright, No. 06-7427, 2007 U.S. App. LEXIS
13642 (4th Cir. June 11, 2007) (issuing writ of habeas corpus). Petitioner Barre is not, nor has
he ever been, an “enemy combatant” who was “part of or supporting forces hostile to the United
States or coalition partners in Afghanistan and who were engaged in an armed conflict against

the United States there.” Hamdi v. Rumsfeld, 542 U.S. 507, 516 (2004). Petitioner Barre was
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not captured on the battlefield or even by U.S. forces or individuals. Petitioner Barre was not a
member of any nation’s military; has never fought alongside any nation’s armed forces; has not
borne arms against the United States or its allies anywhere in the world; was not captured on or
near any battlefield; was not captured by U.S. forces; and has never engaged in any military
activity. Barre is not a combatant under U.S. and international law. He has not violated
international humanitarian or human rights law, and is not an “unlawful” combatant. Prior to his
detention, he did not commit any violent act against any American person or property. He had
no involvement, direct or indirect, in the terrorist attacks on the United States on September 11,
2001, the ensuing armed conflict, or any act of international terrorism attributed by the United
States to Al Qaeda. Indeed, the only time that Petitioner Barre was ever in Afghanistan was
when U.S. forces imprisoned and tortured him at military bases in Kandahar and Bagram before

sending him to Guantanamo.

A. US. DETENTION POLICY

1. The Authorization for the Use of Military Force

32,  In the wake of the September 11, 2001 attacks on the United States, the United
States, at the direction of President Bush, began a massive military campaign against the Taliban
Government, then in power in Afghanistan. On September 18, 2001, a Joint Resolution of
Congress authorized President Bush to use force against the “nations, organizations, or persons”
that “planned, authorized, committed, or aided the terrorist attacks on September 11, 2001, or
[that] harbored such organizations or petrsons‘” Joint Resolution 23, Authorization for Use of

Military Force, Public Law 107-40, 115 Stat. 224 (Jan. 18, 2001) (“AUMFEF”).
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2. The Executive Order

33. On November 13, 2001, Respondent Bush issued an Executive Order authorizing
then Secretary of Defense Donald Rumsfeld, the predecessor of Respondent Gates, to detain
indefinitely anyone Respondent Bush has “reason to believe™:

(i) is or was a member of the organization known as al Qaeda;

(ii)  has engaged in, aided or abetted, or conspired to commit, acts of
international terrorism, or acts in preparation therefor, that have
caused, threaten to cause, or have as their aim to cause, injury to or
adverse effects on the United States, its citizens, national security,

foreign policy, or economy; or

(iii) has knowingly harbored one or more individuals described in
subparagraphs (i) and (ii).

See Executive Order, 66 Fed. Reg. 57,833, §2 (November 13, 2001). President Bush must make
this determination in writing. The Executive Order was neither authorized nor directed by
Congress, and is beyond the scope of the AUMF.

34.  The Executive Order purports to vest President Bush with the sole discretion to
identify individuals who fall within its purview. It establishes no standards governing the
exercise of his discretion. Once a person has been detained, the Executive Order contains no
provision for that person to be notified of the charges he may face or the basis of his detention.
The Executive Order authorizes detainees to be confined indefinitely without charges or the
opportunity to challenge the basis for their detention. It contains no provision for a detainee to
be notified of his rights under domestic and international law, and provides neither the means to
contact and secure counsel, nor rights to notice of consular protection or to consular access at the
detainee’s request. It provides no right to appear before a neutral tribunal to review the basis for
or the legality of a detainee's continued detention and contains no proviston for recourse to an
Article Il court. Indeed, the United States Supreme Court in Rasul v. Bush, 542 U.S. 466

(2004), invalidated the Executive Order’s provision barring federal review of the legality of the
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detainees’ imprisonment. The Executive Order purports to authorize indefinite and unreviewable
detention, based on nothing more than President Bush’s written determination that an individual
is subject to its terms.

35.  The Executive Order was promulgated in the United States and in this judicial
district, the decision to incarcerate Petitioner was made by Respondents in the United States and
in this judicial district, the decision to detain Petitioner at Guantdnamo was made in the United
States and in this judicial district, and the decision to continue detaining Petitioner was, and is,

being made by Respondents in the United States and in this judicial district.

3. Guantanamo Bay Naval Station

36.  On January 11, 2002, the U.S. military began transporting prisoners captured in
Afghanistan to Camp X-Ray at the United States Naval Base in Guantdnamo Bay, Cuba. In
April 2002, prisoners were transferred to Camp Delta, a more permanent prison facility at
Guantanamo. Currently, prisoners are housed in Camp Echo; Camp Delta; and the maximum-
security detention centers known as Camps V and VI, where detainees are kept in solitary
confinement.

37.  The U.S. military has held detainees at Guantdnamo virtually incommunicado.
The U.S. government has deprived those imprisoned there of any lawful process. They were not
allowed to appear before any lawful civilian or military tribunal. For years, they were deprived
of any access to counsel, and their access to counsel has been otherwise restricted. See, e.g.,
Razak v. Bush, 05-1601, dkt. 41 (Dec. 1, 2006) (rejecting government attempt to deprive detainee
of counsel access through a challenge to his “next friend” authorization); David Luban, Lawfare
and Legal Ethics in Guantdnamo, 60 Stan. L. Rev. (forthcoming); Martha Rayner, Roadblocks to
Effective Representation of Uncharged, Indefinitely Detained Clients at Guantdnamo Bay

Military Base, 30 Fordham Int’] L..J. 485 (2007).
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38.  Detainees at Guantinamo have been held under conditions that violate their
constitutional and international rights to dignity and freedom from torture and from cruel,
inhuman and degrading treatment or punishment. See, e.g., Amnesty International, Guantdnamo
and Beyond: The Continuing Pursuit of Unchecked Executive Power, at §3-115 Ch. 12-13, AMR
51/063/2005 (13 May 2005); Physicians for Human Rights, Break Them Down: Systematic Use
of Psychological Torture by US Forces, Ch. 3 (2005); United Nations Press Release, United
Nations Human Rights Experts Express Continued Concern About Situation of Guantdnamo Bay
Detainees, Feb. 4, 2005; International Committee of the Red Cross, Press Release, The ICRC's
Work at Guantdnamo Bay, Nov. 30, 2004; International Committee of the Red Cross,
Operational Update, US Detention Related to the Events of September 11, 2001 and Its Aftermath
- the Role of the ICRC, July 26, 2004; Amnesty International, United States of America: Human
Dignity Denied. Torture and Accountability in the “War on Terror”, at 22 (Oct. 27, 2004)
(available at http://web.amnesty.org/library/Index/ENGAMR 511452004); see also Barry C.
Scheck, 4buse of Detainees at Guantdnamo Bay, The Nat’l Assoc. of Criminal Defense Lawyers
Champion, Nov. 2004, at 4-5.

39. Many of these violations —~ including prolonged isolation, twenty-eight hour
interrogations, extreme and prolonged stress positions, sleep deprivation, sensory assaults,
removal of clothing, hooding, and the use of dogs to create anxiety and terror — were actually
interrogation techniques approved for use at Guantanamo by the most senior Department of
Defense lawyer. See Action Memo from William J. Haynes I, General Counsel, Department of

Defense, to Secretary of Defense (Nov. 27, 2002); Pentagon Working Group Repori on Detainee
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Interrogations in the Global War on Terrorism: Assessment of Legal, Historical, Policy and
Operational Considerations, at 62-65 (Apr. 4, 2003).3

40. In a confidential report to the United States Government, the International
Committee of the Red Cross (“ICRC”) charged the United States military with intentional use
during interrogations of psychological and physical coercion on prisoners at Guantanamo that is
“tantamount to torture.” See Neil A. Lewis, Red Cross Finds Detainee Abuse in Guantdnamo,
N.Y. Times, Nov. 30, 2004, at Al. The report includes details how doctors and other medical
workers at Guantdnamo participated in planning for interrogations. Id.; see also M. Gregg
Bloche & Jonathan H. Marks, When Doctors Go to War, N. Engl. J. Med., Jan. 6, 2005, at 3-4.

41.  Memoranda by the Federal Bureau of Investigation (“FBI”™) have detailed torture
and “highly aggressive interrogation techniques,” including 24-plus hour interrogations
involving temperature extremes, dogs, prolonged isolation, and loud music. See, e.g., Carol D.
Leonnig, Guantdnamo Detainee Says Beating Injured Spine; Now in Wheelchair, Egyptian-Born
Teacher QObjects to Plan to Send Him to Native Land, Wash. Post, Aug. 13, 2005, at Al8;
Amnesty Intemational, Guantdnamo and Beyond: The Continuing Pursuit of Unchecked
Executive Power, at 83-115 Ch. 12-13, AMR 51/063/2005 (13 May 2005); Amnesty
International, Guantdnamo: An Icon of Lawlessness, Jan. 6, 2005, at 3-5; see also Neil A. Lewis,
Fresh Details Emerge on Harsh Methods at Guantdnamo, N.Y. Times, Jan. 1, 2005, at All;
Carol D. Leonnig, Further Detainee Abuse Alleged;, Guantdnamo Prison Cited in FBI Memos,

Wash. Post, Dec. 26, 2004, at Al; Neil A. Lewis & David Johnston, New F.B.1. Memos Describe

3 Additional details of the cruel and degrading conditions suffered by detainees at Guantanamo
are set out at length in a statement by numerous released British detainees. See Shafiq Rasul,
Asif Igbal & Rimhel Ahmed, Composite Statement: Detention in Afghanistan and Guantanamo
Bay, 300, at http://www.ccr-ny.org/v2/reports/docs/Gitmo-compositestatement FINAL23
july04.pdf). The Department of Defense also informed the Associated Press that a number of
interrogators at Guantanamo have been demoted or reprimanded after investigations into
accusations of abuse at the facility. See Report Details Guantdnamo Abuses, Assoc. Press, Nov.
4, 2004.



Case 1:08-cv-01153-HHK  Document1  Filed 07/01/2008 Page 16 of 113

Abuses of Iraq Inmates, N.Y. Times, Dec. 21, 2004, at Al; Dan Eggen & R. Jeffrey Smith, FBI
Agents Allege Abuse of Detainees at Guantdnamo Bay, Wash. Post, Dec. 21, 2004, at Al; Neil
A. Lewis, F.B.I Memos Criticized Practices at Guantdnamo, N.Y. Times, Dec. 7, 2004, at A19.

42.  Female Guantdnamo interrogators have used sexual taunting, including smearing
fake menstrual blood on a detainee’s face, to try to break Muslim detainees. See Gifmo Soldier
Details Sexual Tactics, Assoc. Press, Jan. 27, 2005; Eric Saar & Viveca Novak, Inside the Wire:
A Military Intelligence Soldier’s Eyewitness Account of Life at Guantanamo 228 (2005).

43.  The unlawful and unconstitutional interrogation techniques used by Respondents
at Guantanamo include not only physical and psychological abuse but also other impermissible
conduct contrary to due process requirements, including having agents of the Government
present themselves as lawyers for the detainees during meetings with the detainees for the
purpose of extracting information from the detainees. See Sam Hannel, Lawyers Describe
Guantanamo Detainees, Seattle Post-Intelligencer, Jan. 19, 2005.

44.  Respondents, acting individually or through their agents, have stated that
whatever limitations apply on coercive interrogation techniques used by U.S. military officials
under the auspices of the Department of Defense do rot apply to interrogations conducted by
agents of the CIA or other entities under President Bush, See Eric Lichtblau, Gorzales Says '02
Policy on Detainees Doesn’t Bind CI4, N.Y. Times, Jan. 19, 2005, at A17; Dan Eggen and
Charles Babington, Torture by U.S. Personnel lllegal, Gonzales Tells Senate, Wash. Post, Jan.
18, 2005, at Ad. |

45.  In published statements, President Bush and then Defense Secretary Rumsfeld,
and predecessors of Respondents Thomas and Vargo, respectively, Lehnert and Carrico, have
proclaimed that the United States may hold the detainees under their current conditions

indefinitely. See, e.g., Roland Watson, The Times (London), Jan. 18, 2002 (*Donald Rumsfeld,
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the U.S. Defense Secretary, suggested last night that Al-Qaeda prisoners could be held
indefinitely at the base. He said that the detention of some would be open-ended as the United
States tried to build a case against them.”); Lynne Sladky, Assoc. Press, Jan. 22, 2002 (“Marine
Brig. Gen. Mike Lehnert, who is in charge of the detention mission, defended the temporary cells
where detainees are being held . . . . “We have to look at Camp X-ray as a work in progress . ..’
Lehnert told CNN. Lehnert said plans are to build a more permanent prison ‘exactly in
accordance with federal prison standards . . . .”); John Mintz, Extended Detention in Cuba
Mulled, Wash. Post, Feb. 13, 2002 (“As the Bush Administration nears completion of new rules
for conducting military trials of foreign detainees, U.S. officials say they envision the naval base
at Guantdnamo Bay, Cuba, as a site for the tribunals and as a terrorist penal colony for many
years to come.”). |

46.  According to the Department of Defense, detainees who are adjudged innocent of
all charges by a military commission may nevertheless be kept in detention at Guantanamo
indefinitely. See Dep’t of Defense Press Background Briefing of July 3, 2003, available at
http://www.defenselink.mil/transcripts/2003/tr20030703-0323 .html.

47.  Counsel for Respondents have also consistently maintained that the United States
may hold the detainees under their current conditions indefinitely. In re Guantdnamo Detainee
Cases, Nos. 02-CV-0299 (CKK), ef al., (D.D.C.), Tr. of Dec. 1, 2004 Oral Argument on Motion
to Dismiss at 22-24, statements of Principle Deputy Associate Att’y Gen. Brian Boyle; see also
Dana Priest, Long-Term Plan Sought for Terror Suspects, Wash. Post, Jan. 2, 2005, at Al.
Moreover, the Government has consf.ructed a more permanent facility at Guantanamo. See
Drake Bennett, The Road from Guantdnamo, Boston Globe, June 25, 2006; see also Christopher
Cooper, In Guantdnamo, Prisoners Languish in a Sea of Red Tape, Wall St. 1., Jan. 26, 2005, at

Al; Guantdnamo Takes on the Look of Permanency, Assoc. Press, Jan. 9, 2005.
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4. Rendition and Tranpsfers to Torture

48.  During interrogations at Guantdnamo, detainees have been threatened with
rendition or transfer to countries that permit indefinite detention without charge or trial and/or
routinely practice torture. The U.S. government bas also allowed foreign interrogators from
countries that routinely subject those in their custody to torture and/or cruel, inhuman or
degrading treatment access to detainees at Guantinamo; foreign interrogators have threatened
and abused their nationals while detained in Guantdnamo. See Oversight and Review Division,
Office of the Inspector General, U.S. Dept. of Justice, 4 Review of the FBI's Involvement in and
Observations of Detainee Interrogations in Guantanamo Bay, Afghanistan, and Iraq, 183-84,
May 2008; Justin Rood, Gitmo Personnel Aided Brutal Regimes, Group Charges, ABC News,
June 3, 2008.

49.  The United States has secretly transferred detainees to countries which routinely
engage mn torture and/or cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment without‘ complying with the
applicable legal requirements for extradition. This practice, known as “extraordinary rendition,”
is sometimes used to facilitate interrogation by subjecting detainees to torture. See Jane Mayer,
Outsourcing Torture: The Secret History of American’s “Extraordinary Rendition” Program,
New Yorker, Feb. 14, 2003, at 106.

50.  The United States Government’s practice of extraordinary rendition has been well
documented by major American and international news organizations, including, infer alia, the
Washington Post, the Los Angeles Times, and the British Broadcasting Corporation (the “BBC”).
According to news accounts:

Since September 11, the U.S. government has secretly transported dozens
of people suspected of links to terrorists to countries other than the United
States bypassing extradition procedures and legal formalities, according to
Western diplomats and intelligence source. The suspects have been taken

to countries . . . whose intelligence services have close ties to the CIA and
where they can be subjected to interrogation tactics — including torture and
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threats to families — that are illegal in the United States, the sources said.

In some cases, U.S. intelligence agents remain closely involved in the

interrogations, the sources said.
Rajiv Chanrasekaran & Peter Finn, U.S. Behind Secret Transfer of Terror Suspects, Wash. Post,
Mar. 11, 2002, at Al; see also Dana Priest, Long Term Plan Sought for Terror Suspects, Wash.
Post, Jan. 2, 2005, at Al (“The transfers, called ‘renditions,” depend on arrangements between
the United States and other countries, such as Egypt . . ., that agree to have local security services
hold certain suspects in their facilities for interrogation by CIA and foreign liaison officers.”).

51.  The U.S. government has forcibly transferred detainees from Guantanamo to the
custody of countries that regularly engage in torture and cruel, inhuman and degrading treatment
of those in custody despite domestic and international legal prohibitions against these transfers.
See, e.g., Human Rights Watch, The “Stamp of Guantdnamo”: The Story of Seven Men
Betrayed by Russia’s Diplomatic Assurances to the United States (Mar. 2007), 16-17 (quoting
one detainee recalling that his interrogators at Guantanamo warned him: ““We’ll send you to
Russia. .. Théy’ll string you up there’ and that kind of thing™; and another detainee recalling his
interrogators stating: ““‘If you don’t tell us the truth, we’ll send you to Afghanistan, and if after
Afghanistan anything is left of you, you will be sent to Russia where you will be tortured, you

will have no fingers left.”); Human Rights Watch, lll-Fated Homecomings: A Tunisian Case

Study of Guantanamo Repatriations (Sept. 2007).

5.  Efforts to Obstruct Detainees’ Access to Courts to Challenge Their Detention

52.  Prisoners incarcerated at Guantdnamo are entitled to test the legality of their
detention in the federal courts. See Rasul v. Bush, 542 U.S. 466 (2004); Boumediene v. Bush, __
S.Ct. __, Nos. 06-1195, 06-1196, 2008 W1 2369628 (June 12, 2008).

53.  Respondents have repeatedly acted to prevent detainees at Guantianamo from

accessing lawyers and the courts to challenge their detention.
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54,  The government has repeatedly frustrated the prisoners’ right to have access to
lawyers. For more than two years, Respondent Bush and then Secretary Rumsfeld, the
predecessor to Respondent Gates, denied the detainees from access to counsel in its entirety.
Only after the Supreme Court first held that Guantanamo detainees had the right to test the
legality of their detention in federal courts through petitions for habeas corpus, in June 2004,
thirty months after the first detainees were brought to Guantanamo, did lawyers begin to have
access to Guantanamo detainees.

55.  Despite the necessity of efforts to secure authorization to represent Guantinamo
detainees through “next friends” because of the barriers that the government has erected to
securing direct authorizations from detainees, the government has consistently challenged these
“next friend” authorizations as either presumptively invalid for the representation of
Guantanamo detainees, or impermissible as regards particular detainees. See, e.g., Razak v. Bush,
05-1601, dkt. 41 (Dec. 1, 2006) (“[The detainee] is unfamiliar with the United States Court
System. He does not speak English. He likely does not know what the term habeas corpus
means. He has no criminal charges against him. He has every reason to distrust his captors and
keepers. . . .He has every reason to challenge his confinement. . . . He cannot communicate with
an attorney, not does he even know at present that he has an attorney. He has no expectation of
release, ever. In light of these facts, there can be little doubt in the Court’s mind that Mr. Al
Razak is not able to challenge the legality of his detention.”).

56. In a blatant violation of their obligation under the protective order and the
Supreme Court’s mandate, military personnel at Guantdnamo have attempted to intimidate
prisoners and persuade them not to work with lawyers at all, or with particular lawyers. Some
detainees have been told that their lawyers are unable to provide any benefit to them, or even that

the existence of a lawyer will delay a detainee’s release from prison. In multiple instances,
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military personnel have told prisoners that they should not work with particular lawyers because
the lawyers were Jewish or homosexual, regardless of the lawyer’s religious beliefs or sexual
orientation. See generally David Luban, Lawfare and Legal Ethics in Guantdnamo, 60 Stan. L.
Rev. (forthcoming); Martha Rayner, Roadblocks to Effective Representation of Uncharged,
Indefinitely Detained Clients at Guantdnamo Bay Military Base, 30 Fordham Int’l L.J. 485
(2007).

57.  Military personnel have placed undue burdens on prisoners who express a desire
to meet with a lawyer in order to discourage the prisoner from accessing this right. When
Jawyers were first allowed on the base, prisoners were forced to sit in isolation in Camp Echo for
as long as eleven days prior to a legal visit if they wanted to see a lawyer, and have been held an
equal time afterwards. Multiple prisoners have been told that they were being taken to an
interrogation when in actuality they were being taken to meet with their legal counsel. In some
of these instances, a prisoner’s resistance to being moved for an interrogation is then conveyed to
the attorney as a refusal to see his lawyer.

58.  Less than two weeks after the Supreme Court first held that Guantanamo
prisoners have the right to challenge the legality of their detention through petitions for the writ
of habeas corpus in federal court, Rasul v. Bush, 542 U.S. 466 (2004), the Executive hastily
created the Combatant Status Review Tribunal (“CSRT”) process. The Wolfowitz Order, issued
July 7, 2004, set forth provisions governing the standards and procedures to be used by the
CSRTs in reviewing purported prior determinations that each prisoner was an “enemy
combatant.” On July 29, 2004, Navy Secretary England issued the specific procedures
governing the CSRTs.

59.  The CSRT rules and procedures promulgated by Respondents are inconsistent

with the Constitution and laws of the United States. A CSRT is a non-adversary hearing
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conducted pursuant to rules and procedures that are unfair in design and biased in practice. For
example, under the CSRT rules and procedures, every detainee is:
(a) Denied access to counsel;
(b)  Denied the right to see the evidence against him;
(c) Denied the right to confront, or even know the identity of, his accusers;
(d)  Denied the right to call witnesses;
(e) Denied the right to present evidence;
3} Denied the right to know how the military collected evidence; and
(g)  Denied an impartial tribunal because the CSRT must presume that
evidence against a detainee (which he has not seen) is genuine and
accurate.
The CSRT rules and procedures further allow for the consideration of hearsay evidence and/or
evidence obtained by torture or coercion. These rules and procedures in practice and effect
virtually compel the CSRT conclusion that the detainee is an “enemy combatant.”

60.  The CSRTs are incapable of determining who is or is not properly detained by
Respondents as an “enemy combatant.” Even where a CSRT determines that a detainee is
actually innocent of any offense or wrongdoing, that detainee may continue to be held virtually
incommunicado, indefinitely, without charge, without access to counsel, and without any
meaningful opportunity to challenge the legality of his detention. Respondents have held
detainees who have been determined through the CSRT process to be “no longer enemy
combatants” or “non-enemy combatants” without affording them the right to an adequate and
meaningful judicial process.

61.  The Defense Department subsequently created annual Administrative Review

Board (“ARB™) hearings purportedly to determine whether prisoners designated as enemy
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combatants should be released from Guanténamo on the grounds that they pose no threat to the
United States, nor have any intelligence value. The ARB hearings suffer from the same
procedural deficiencies as the CSRT processes. Moreover, their findings are evidently of limited
significance. In 2007, only approximately thirty percent of the approximately 115 men
transferred out of Guantdnamo had been “cleared” by their ARBs; the rest had been transferred
without having officially been cleared. Moreover, at the time of filing, approximately fifty men
cleared by their ARBs, including some who had been cleared for years, remain in Guantanamo.

62. On December 30, 2005, Respondent Bush signed into law the Detainee Treatment
Act of 2005, Pub. L. No. 109-148, §§ 1001-1006, 119 Stat. 2680, 2739-45 (2005) (“DTA”).
Section 1005(e)(1) of the DTA amended 28 U.S.C. § 2241 to eliminate the jurisdiction of the
federal courts to hear or consider petitions for Writs of Habeas Corpus and other actions brought
by or on behalf of detainees held in Guantanamo filed after the date of its enactment.

63.  Section 1005(e)}2XA) of the DTA granted the United States Court of Appeals for
the District of Columbia Circuit “exclusive jurisdiction” to determine the validity of any final
decision of a Combatant Status Review Tribunal (“CSRT”) that an alien is properly detained as
an “enemy combatant.” Section 1005(e)(2}(C) also provided that the applicable “scope of
review” by the Court of Appeals is limited to determining whether a final CSRT decision “was
consistent with the standards and procedures specified by the Secretary of Defense,” and “to the
extent the Constitution and laws of the United States are applicable, whether the use of such
standards and procedures to make the determination is consistent with the Constitution and laws
of the United States.” Section 1005(e) of the DTA fails to provide the full measure of process,
rights and remedies required by the Suspension Clause of the United States Constitution, Art. I, §
9, cl. 2. See Boumediene v. Bush, _ S.Ct. _, Nos. 06-1195, 06-1196, slip op. at 64 (June 12,

2008) (holding that “the Government has not established that the detainees’ access to the
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statutory review mechanisms at issue is an adequate substitute for the writ of habeas corpus” and
that “MCA § 7 thus effects an unconstitutional suspension of the writ”).

64.  On June 29, 2006, the Supreme Court for a second time recognized that prisoners
at Guantdnamo had a right to petition the federal courts for Writs of Habeas Corpus, Hamdan v.
Rusmfeld, 548 U.S. 557 (2006), and that the DTA failed to remove from the courts jurisdiction to
consider pending habeas petitions. Id. at 749.

65.  On October 17, 2006, less than four months after the Supreme Court’s ruling in
Hamdan, Respondent Bush signed into law the Military Commissions Act of 2006 (“MCA”),
Pub. L. No. 109-366, 120 Stat. 2600 (2006). Section 7 of the MCA further amended 28 U.S.C.
2241 to remove the jurisdiction of any “court, justice, or judge . . . to hear or consider an
application for a writ of habeas corpus filed by or on behalf of an alien detained by the United
States who has been determined by the United States to have been properly detained as an enemy
combatant or is awaiting such determination.” The MCA provision applied both prospectively
and retrospectively. The MCA aimed to situate the narrow review mechanism established by the
DTA as the exclusive mechanism for non-citizens in U.S. custody classified as enemy
combatants.

66.  On June 12, 2008, the Supreme Court ruled for the third time that the Executive
had overstepped its constitutional bounds in denying judicial review to prisoners at Guantanamo.
In Boumediene v. Bush, __ S.Ct. __, Nos. 06-1195, 06-1196 (June 12, 2008), the Court held that
detainees maintain a constitutional privilege of habeas corpus, and suggested that proceedings in
which detainees do not have access to counsel, and evidence is not reasonably available to them,
may raise due process concerns. The Court held that Section 7 of the MCA is unconstitutional
on its face because it violates the Habeas Corpus Suspension Clause of the United States

Constitution, Art. I, § 9, cl. 2, Boumediene, slip op. at 64, and therefore does not deprive this
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Court of jurisdiction to hear or consider this Petition, and grant the relief that Petitioner seeks
herein. Boumediene v. Bush, _ S.Ct. __, Nos. 06-1195, 06-1196, slip op. 50 (June 12, 2008)
(*We do consider it uncontroversial, however, that the privilege of habeas corpus entitles the
prisoner a meaningful opportunity to demonstrate that he is being held pursuant to “the erroneous
application or interpretation™ of relevant law. And the habeas court must have the power to
order the conditional release of an individual unlawfully detained. . . .These are the easily
identified attributes of any constitutionally adequate habeas corpus proceeding. But, depending

on the circumstances, more may be required.”)

B. PETITIONER MOHAMMED SULAYMON BARRE

1.  Barre’s Flight From Somalia As a Refugee

67.  Petitioner Barre was born in 1964 or 1965. He received a Bachelor’s Degree in
Agriculture from the University of Agriculture near Mogadishu, the Somali capital. While Barre
was studying in the university, civil war erupted in Somalia and Barre’s family was persecuted
by the Somali dictator, Mohammed Said Budee. After Barre completed his studies, he was
forced to leave Mogadishu because of the escalating war; he retured to the region where his
family lived.

68.  The subsequent years grew still more dangerous in Somalia. In 1991, the Somali
dictator Mohammed Said Budee was ousted from power and the country descended into a state
of near anarchy that continues to this day. As a result of the chaos and violence that consumed
the country, Barre was forced to flee Somalia entirely in the early 1990s hoping to rebuild his life
in a country that was safe.

69.  Barre fled Somalia with a valid passport transiting through India to Pakistan. He

traveled from India to Pakistan after having heard that the UNHCR office in Islamabad, Pakistan
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provided the opportunity for Somali refugees fleeing the war to secure official recognition,
United Nations protection and the opportunity to travel. He traveled legally to Pakistan.

70. Soon after Barre arrived in Pakistan, he went to the United Nations office and
applied for refugee protection. He was granted UNHCR mandate refugee status in May 1990
and had numerous subsequent personal interactions with the UNHCR office in Pakistan or their
local partner agency, making personal contact nineteen times over the eleven years he resided in
Pakistan. See Letter from Andrew Painter, United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees to
1. Wells Dixon, Center for Constitutional Rights (Feb. 27, 2008) (hereinafier UNHCR Letter).
Indeed, his last in-person interaction with the UNHCR was on July 3, 2001, where he received
and signed a refugee certificate only four months prior to the home raid and abduction which
precipitated his transfer to Guantsnamo. Less than one year earlier, on November 21, 2000, the
U.S. government Immigration and Naturalization Service (INS), whose activities are now
administered by the Department of Homeland Security (DHS), conducted a resettlement
interview with Barre to determine whether he would be a beneficiary of the U.S. resettlement
program transferring refugees from other parts of the world for protection in the United States.
Id

71. Barre lived and worked in Karachi, Pakistan. In Karachi, Barre worked for the
Dahabshiil Company, a well-known international money transfer company with agents in 34
countries throughout the world, including agents in the United States and the United Kingdom.
“Dahabshiil’s clients include United Nations organizations, international and local non-
governmental organizations, the British Broadcasting Corporation, and the Somali diaspora. See
Dahabshiil Company website, www.dahabshiil.com, available as Exhibit D-6 to Unclassified
Record of Combatant Status Review Tribunal (Jan. 20, 2005) (hereinaffer CSRT Record)

(attached as Ex. 1).



Case 1:08-cv-01153-HHK  Document1l  Filed 07/01/2008 Page 27 of 113

72.  Barre did the same work that other Dahabshiil agents did, including agents
operating openly and lawfully in the United States. His work consisted primarily of transferring
money for Somalis living in Karachi, who needed to exchange money with their relatives in
Somalia who did not have access to banks because of the civil wat.,

73.  As an employee of Dahabshiil, customers could obtain Barre’s phone number
from the Dahabshiil website. He transferred between approximately one and five transactions
per day, most of which were small transfers. All of his transactions were documented by fax

records Petitioner Barre maintained in his home.

2.  Barre’s Abduction in a Pakistani Raid of His Home

74.  Barre was one of the earliest victims of house raids by the Pakistani military after
the U.S. invasion of Afghanistan. Andy Worthington, The Guantdnamo Files 143 (2007) (“The
first house raids—based on intelligence that was often extremely suspect—took place in
November 2001. One of the first prisoners was Mohammed Sulaymon Barre, a 37-year-old
Somali, who had been living in Pakistan, as a UN-approved refugee, since fleeing his homeland
during its ruinous civil war in the early 1990s.”).

75.  While Barre was living and working in Karachi, he was questioned three times at
his home by Pakistani intelligence officials. These incidents occurred within approximately a
three-week period of each other, before his capture. In each encounter, the agents asked Barre
about his job and what he did for a living. He did not worry about these interrogations because
he did not believe that he had done anything wrong.

76. However, on the night of November 1, 2001, between 2:30 a.m. and 3:00 am,,
Barre was arrested by Pakistani officials while at home with his wife. He was taken away in the

middle of the night to a Pakistani prison, told that he was merely being investigated and would
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be released in the morning. Barre nonetheless was detained in the Pakistani prison for about four
months by both Pakistani and U.S. officials.

77.  During his four months in detention in a Pakistani prison, Barre was interrogated
by U.S. forces at least three times.

78.  Barre was told that he was arrested because of telephone numbers found on a list
~of phone calls made to his house and purportedly linked to the al-Wafaa organization, a non-
governmental Islamic charity. Barre was assured that because he worked for such a large
company, Dahabshiil, and his phone number was listed publicly on their website, it would not be
unusual to talk to many people on the phone. Barre was also told by the Pakistanis that he would
be released and senf home since their investigation was completed.

79.  Instead, Barre was blindfolded and handed over to U.S. forces along with another
group of prisoners arrested in Karachi. U.S. forces transferred Barre in a military airplane to
Kandahar, Afghanistan.

80.  After three days imprisoned in Kandahar, Barre was transferred by U.S. forces
with three other prisoners arrested in Karachi to the U.S. military airbase in Bagram,
Afghanistan. In Bagram, U.S. interrogators pressured Barre to confess that he belonged fo al-
Wafaa. When he refused to agree to make a false confession, Barre was tortured by U.S. forces,
including through physical abuse, isolation, temperature extremes, and deprivation of adequate
food. He was grabbed by the neck and thrown before being taken by force to isolation where he
was deprived of basic essentials, including a blanket despite the cold temperature. He suffered
physical ailments because of the treatment he suffered in Bagram, including difficulty standing
and swollen hands and feet. Summarized Sworn Detainee Statement, at 5, in CSRT Record

(hereinafter CSRT Tr.).
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81.  After this abuse, a different interrogator informed Barre that he would be released
and had not done anything wrong. He acknowledged that the abusive treatment Barre suffered
was an injustice.

82. Nevertheless, after imprisonment in Bagram, Barre was transferred to Kandahar.

3. Barre’s Imprisonment in Guantinameo

83.  On a date in 2002 known to Respondents, the United States military transferred
Barre from Kandahar to Guantdnamo, where he has been held ever since, in the custody and
control of Respondents.

84.  Since gaining control of Barre, the United States military has beld him virtually
incommunicado.

85. Barre has been interrogated repeatedly by agents of the United States
Departments of Defense and/or Justice, and/or the Central Intelligence Agency.

86. Barre has been held under conditions that violate his constitutional and
international rights to dignity and freedom from torture and from cruel, inhuman and degrading
treatment or punishment. Barre has been held in and surrounded by conditions of isolation;
constant vulnerability to repeated interrogation and severe beatings; the threat or reality of being
kept in cages with no privacy; shackled with heavy chains and irons; placed in solitary
confinement or the threat of solitary confinement for minor rule infractions for prolonged periods
of time; interrogated while shackled and chained in painful positions; exposed to extremes of
temperature; subjected to violent behavior or the threat of violence; threatened with rendition to
countries that practice torture; sexually humiliated; denied access to counsel and family, or had
his access to counsel actively impeded; deprived of adequate medical care; and subjected to

repeated psychological abuse.
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87.  In his seventh year of imprisonment without charge or trial, Barre is in solitary

confinement in Camp VI, a supermaximum security confinement facility.

4. Lack of Process or Evidence Justifying Petitioner’s Imprisonment

88.  Petitioner Barre has not been afforded any procedures that would satisfy his rights
under the most fundamental common law notions of due process, the Constitution, laws and
treaties of the United States, or customary international law.

89.  Barre not been charged with an offense and has not been notified of any pending
or contemplated charges. He has not appeared before a lawful civilian or military tribunal, or
adequately informed by Respondents of his rights under the U.S. Constitution, the regulations of
the U.S. military, the Geneva Conventions, the International Covenant on Civil and Political
Rights, the American Declaration on the Rights and Duties of Man, the 1954 Convention
Relating to the Status of Refugees or customary international law.

90.  As Petitioner did not participate in the armed conflict at any point in time, he is
not properly detained pursuant to President Bush’s authority as Commander-in-Chief, under the
laws and usages of war, or the AUMF. On information and belief, President Bush has never
certified or determined in any manner, in writing or otherwise, that Petitioner is subject to the
Executive Order. Petitioner is not properly subject to the Executive Order, and, in any event, the
Executive Order is unjust, ultra vires, and violates the laws, treaties, and Constitution of the
United States. Petitioner has been, and is being, detained unlawfully purportedly pursuant
President Bush’s authority as Commander-in-Chief and/or under the laws and usages of war.

91.  The only “process” Barre had was through the hastily created and severely
inadequate CSRT and annual ARB processes.

a. Petitioner Barre’s CSRT Proceedings
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92.  The unclassified excerpt of Petitioner Barre’s CSRT proceedings, while far from
accurate or complete, reveals the following allegations against him:

(i) he voluntarily traveled from Somalia to Pakistan (see
CSRT Tr. at 1);

(ii) he worked for the Dahabshiil Company in Karachi,
Pakistan (see id. at 2); and

(iii)  he was a member of the non-governmental organization al-
Wafaa, which the United States has identified as a terrorist
organization (see id. at 3;

93.  There were no other allegations made against Petitioner Barre during his initial
CSRT proceedings. Those allegations are not supported by reliable evidence, classified or
unclassified, and, even if they were, are insufficient to support an enemy combatant designation
by a preponderance of the evidence.

94.  Barre’s response to the three allegations made during his CSRT proceedings
further confirms that these claims fail to support his enemy combatant determination by a
preponderance of the evidence.

95.  As to the first allegation that Barre voluntarily traveled from Somalia to Pakistan,
he explained: “There was a civil war inside Somalia and anyone who wanted to leave Somalia
was able to, Whoever was capable of leaving, they left. Several {Somalis] left and are now
living in the United States, Europe, and other countries. [ left the country because of the
continuing civil war. . . . [I]s leaving the country because of civil wars a crime?” Id at 1. Bame
subsequently explained in greater detail that he had fled persecution in Somalia and, with the
assistance of the United Nations, obtained refugee protection in Pakistan. On information and

belief, no contrary evidence concerning why he left Somalia and traveled to Pakistan was ever

presented to, or considered by, the CSRT. Indeed, no contrary evidence exists.
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96.  As to the second allegation, Barre conceded that he worked for the Dahabshiil
Company in Karachi, Pakistan. He explained that the company transfers money like a bank, and
was used by Somalis who did not have access to banks during the civil war in their home
country. He also pointed out that the Dahabshiil Company has several branches in countries
throughout the world, especially countries with Somali communities, including the United States,
Australia, Pakistan, and various European, African and Gulf countries. He explained that he
worked for the company in Pakistan, receiving money and transferring it to students and families
who needed it in Somalia. The money went through the company’s main office in Somalia.
Petitioner’s name and address also appeared on the company’s website; anyone with Internet
access was capable of getting in touch with him. See id at 2-3. In sum, the work Petitioner
Barre did for the Dahabshiil Company “was the same work the other agents did, including the
agents in the United States.” /d. at 3.

97.  As to the third allegation, Petitioner Barre flatly denied that he was a member of
al-Wafaa. He stated: “I never heard of the al-Wafa [sic] organization until I entered the prison in
Pakistan and I have never worked for them. The people that interrogated me for the last three
years know this.” Jd at 3. Barre further explained: “After I was arrested at my house, you
should have had enough evidence to show whether or not 1 was connected to al-Wafa [sic]. All
the accusations agaﬁnst me are based on some telephone numbers found on a list. As I have
mentioned before, my work at Dahabshiil has a website on the [[|nternet and anyone can access
that website. My name and phone number was popular on that page. 1 would get several calls a
day, some were from people I knew and some weren’t. The accusations against me are based on

those phone numbers.” /d.



Case 1:08-cv-01153-HHK  Document1  Filed 07/01/2008 Page 33 of 113

98.  In addition, the CSRT panel refused to allow Barre to call the alleged head of the
al-Wafaa organization, who was at the time detained at Guantanamo.’ Barre explained: “My
Personal Representative told me that the President of the Tribunal refused the witness. . . . I just
wanted to ask the witness if I was from his organization or not. . . . [H]e would know who is in
his organization and who wasn’t.” Id at 4. Barre further commented that “[d]uring the time [
was here [in Guantdnamo] the interrogators have never accused me of being from al-Wafa [sic].
When my Personal Representative gave me the Unclassified Summary I thought the accusation
was cleared up until I saw it on the paper.” Id at 5.

99, On information and belief, Barre’s CSRT failed to consider that, by the time of
those proceedings, he had been cleared of any connection to al-Wafaa by his interrogators and/or
other agents of Respondents.

100. Moreover, as to the claim that Petitioner was a member of al-Wafaa because his
contact information may have been found on a particular list, Petitioner questioned: “{Ijf they
found a phone number and your calling list and that phone number belonged to someone who
was wanted by the authorities, would that be a crime against you? Does that prove the person
that received the call worked for the person calling? . . . From where I sit, this isn’t proof that I
am part of that organization (al-Wafa [sic]). Do you have any other proof that shows I am part of
al-Wafaa?” Id. at 5. |

101. The CSRT further refused to allow Barre to see, comment on or otherwise defend
himself against any classified evidence. He argued to no avail: “If there is information about me,
I want to be there to defend myself. Maybe the interrogators wrote something that I never said

or maybe something was translated incorrectly.” Id. at 6.

* Notably, Abdallah Aziz Al Matrafi, a Saudi Arabian citizen and the alleged head of the al-
Wafaa organization has since been released. See infra note 12.
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102. On information and belief, no other evidence concerning Petitioner’s alleged
membership in al-Wafaa was ever provided to, or considered by, his CSRT, classified or
unclassified, and no evidence was ever presented to establish that al-Wafaa is a terrorist
organization.

103. Indeed, whether considered separately or together, the foregoing allegations are
plainly insufficient to establish by a preponderance of the evidence that Petitioner is an enemy
combatant. Accordingly, Petitioner Barre may have been cleared for release before his CSRT or
may initially have been found by his CSRT panel not to be an enemy combatant, but that
determination may have been reversed by senior Pentagon officials because it was contrary to a
preferred, predetermined finding. Cf, e.g, Mark Denbeaux & Joshua Denbeaux, No-Hearing
Hearings: An Analysis of the Proceedings of the Government’s Combatant Status Review
Tribunals at Guantdnamo at 3, 37-39 (Nov. 17, 2006) (showing certain detainees initially found
by CSRTs not to be enemy combatants subjected to further proceedings until enemy combatant
determinations  obtained),  available  ar  http://law.shu.eduw/news/final no hearing
hearings_report.pdf.

104. Nonetheless, as indicated above, Petitioner was ultimately found by his CSRT to

be an enemy combatant.

b. The Sum of Allegations Against Petitioner Barre in His More Than Six Years
of Imprisonment

105.  For the more than six years Petitioner Barre has been imprisoned in Guantanamo,
there has been no credible evidence advanced that would justify Barre’s continued detention as
an “enemy combatant” or an individual who poses a threat to the United States or its allies. The
entirety of the allegations made against him during his CSRT and ARBs do not amount to illegal
activity, are entirely unsubstantiated, and/or are internally inconsistent or directly contradicted by

existing evidence. Every allegation against him is invalidated below.
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106. Moreover, the allegations against him have varied dramatically during the time
that he has been detained in Guantanamo even though his interrogations have largely ceased.’
On information and belief, because the three allegations made against Barre at his initial CSRT
pfoceedings were insufficient to support an enemy combatant determination, and because there
were diplomatic barriers to his release and no countervailing diplomatic pressure that compelied
it, Respondents manufactured new and further allegations against him by the time of his ARB
proceedings in September 2005, to justify his continuing detention.

107.  As Petitioner later noted during his ARB proceedings in September 2005: “Based
on what was mentioned before and my innocence from these accusations, I do not deserve to stay
detained . . . all this time. A lot of interrogators said to me that through this war that was lead
[sic] by the United States, a lot of mistakes were made and they must be corrected. They fold me
many times [ | I am here by mistake.” Summary of Administrative Review Board Proceedings, 5
(Sept. 30, 2005) (emphasis added) (hereinafter 2005 ARB Tr.) (attached as Ex. 3).

108. In the CSRT and ARBs of Petitioner Barre, Respondents have advanced the
following allegations that do not amount to illegal activity, are entirely unsubstantiated, and/or

are internally inconsistent or directly contradicted by existing evidence:

> Allegations appeared in his 2005 ARB that did not appear in his 2004 CSRT or his 2006 ARB.
For instance, in Barre’s 2005 ARB, the Department of Defense alleged that the legal
organization for which Barre worked was affiliated with a company that was designated by the
U.S. Office of Foreign Asset Control after Barre’s detention. This allegation did not appear in
his previous CSRT or his subsequent ARB. Unclassified Summary of Evidence for
Administrative Review Board in the Case of Barre, Mohammed Sulaymon, 1 (Sept. 22, 2005)
(hereinafter 2005 ARB Factors) (attached as Ex. 2). Similarly, allegations appeared in his 2006
ARB that are inconsistent with allegations that appeared in his 2004 CSRT and 2005 ARB. For
instance, in his 2006 ARB, the Department of Defense alleged that Barre was in Afghanistan
until 1992 and worked in Sudan between 1992 and 1995. Unclassified Summary of Evidence for
Administrative Review Board in the Case of Barre, Mohammed Soliman (hereinafter 2006 ARB
Factors) (attached as Ex. 4). Yet, in his CSRT, one of the allegations against Barre was that he
traveled from Somalia to Pakistan in 1994.
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i.

ii.

iil.

In Barre’s CSRT, one of the allegations against him is that he moved from
Somalia to Pakistan. CSRT Tr. at 1. Barre acknowledges that he fled a raging
civil war that continues to this day. As Barre asked the President of the Tribunal,
confounded as to why this would be an allegation against him: “is leaving the
country because of civil wars a crime?” CSRT Tr. at 1.

In Barre’s CSRT, as well as in his 2005 ARB but not his 2006 ARB, Respondents
advanced as an éllegation against him that he worked for the Dehabshiil money
transfer company. CSRT Tr. at 2; 2005 ARB Tr. at 2. But see Unclassified
Summary of Evidence for Administrative Review Board in the Case of Barre,
Mohammed Soliman (hereinafier 2006 ARB Factors) (attached as Ex. 4). As
detailed above, Dehabshiil is a legal entity that has never been found to have any
involvement with terrorism. Barre in no way made any attempt to conceal this
employment. He was legally employed and publicly advertised his work with this
company. Dehabshiil, like many remittance companies that exist around the
world, filled a void that existed because of the lack of traditional banks in Somalia
and the need for the Somali diaspora, international organizations and businesses
to transfer money into and out of Somalia safely and legally. See, e.g., Samuel
Munzele Maimbo & Dilip Ratha, eds., Remittances Development Impact and
Future Prospects (2005).

Barre’s 2005 ARB lists the fact that he was detained in a house raid as one of the
allegations against him. Unclassified Summary of Evidence for Administrative
Review Board in the Case of Barre, Mohammed Sulaymon at 2 (Sept. 22, 2005)
(hereinafter 2005 ARB Factors) (attached as Ex. 2). Barre was undisputedly a

victim of an invasion of his home in November 2001. However, this does not
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constitute an illegal act by Barre or justify his continued detention as an “enemy
combatant.”

iv. In Barre’s 2005 ARB, but in neither his CSRT nor his 2006 ARB, the Department
of Defense advanced as an allegation against Barre that he traveled to Pakistan on
a Jama’at al Tablighi visa. 2005 ARB Factors at 1. Bur see CSRT Record; 2006
ARB Factors. This is flatly denied, 2005 ARB Tr. at 2, entirely unsubstantiated
and, moreover, contradicted by existing evidence in the form of his official
passport.® See id. at 3, 10 (Barre denied that he was a member or a missionary of
Jama’at al Tablighi, or that he had any knowledge of Jama’at Al Tablighi’s
purported ties to terrorism).

v. Barre’s 2005 ARB states that he lied to receive his three-month visa as one of the
factors favoring his continuing detention. 2005 ARB Factors at 2. However, the
ARB provides no evidence supporting this contention. Moreover, this is clearly
insufficient to justify that Barre is or ever was an “enemy combatant.” As Barre
noted in his response to this allegation, he did not lie to obtain a visa, but it is
generally known that refugees are often forced to lie to obtain protection in their
flight from great risk: “I did not do this, but the necessity of basic human needs
and you know that many refugees that entered [the] United States, they entered
illegally, but due to their special situation, [the] United States and other countries

received them.” 2005 ARB Tr. at 4.

§ Moreover, even if Barre had traveled on such a visa it would not be illegal. Jama’at al Tablighi
does not appear on the U.S. list of terrorist organizations and securing a visa to travel from India
to Pakistan with this organization in no way justifies his “enemy combatant” designation or
continued detention. See U.S. Department of Homeland Security, U.S. Customs and Border
Protection, Office of Border Patrol, Terrorist Organization Reference Guide (2004).
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vi. Allegations in Barre’s CSRT and 2005 ARB made no mention of any presence in
Afghanistan or involvement with the mujuahadeen or al Qaeda there, or any
relationship with Sudan. See CSRT Record; 2005 ARB Factors. However, for
the first time, in Barre’s 2006 CSRT, the Department of Defense advanced
allegations against Barre that he was a mujahadeen in Afghanistan until 1992; that
he was a member of a Kandahar institute near a mujahadeen guesthouse; that he
was a participant in jihadist training in Afghanistan; and that he worked “on
Usama bin Laden’s compound in Khartoum, Sudan” between 1992 and 1995.
2006 ARB Factors at 1-2. First, it is implausible and unsubstantiated that new
and credible intelligence arose in 2006 that supported an entirely novel factual
scenario involving Barre’s activities and location prior to 1995. Further, this
version of events is internally inconsistent with other allegations previously made
by the Department of Defense against Barre, including that he traveled from
Somalia to Pakistan in 1994. Moreover, the allegations asserted are directly
contradicted by official representations from UNHCR about the personal
interactions Barre had with the UN or affiliate offices in Pakistan prior to 1995.
A letter describing Barre’s personal interactions with the UN or affiliate offices in
Pakistan describes four personal visits by Barre in 1990, and seven visits by Barre
between 1994 and 19935, periods in which Barre was alleged in his 2006 ARB to
be in Afghanistan and Sudan respectively. See UNHCR Letter. There is
absolutely no credible evidence that he was in Afghanistan or Sudan during this
period, and certainly none that he had any involvement with Osama bin Laden or

al Qaeda. Barre first set foot in Afghanistan when forcibly rendered there by U.S.
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forces for detention and interrogation in U.S. military bases in Bagram and
Kandahar,

vii. In Barre’s 2005 ARB, the Department of Defense made two unique allegations
that did not reappear in the subsequent ARB and which related to Dahabshiil.
First, the DOD alleged that Barre ran an illegal money transfer business outside of
his home. 2005 ARB Factors at 1. Second, the Department alleged that
Dahabshiil was affiliated with its competitor organization, al Barakaat, which had
briefly been designated by the U.S. Office of Foreign Asset Control (OFAC), and
its operations correspondingly terminated. Id This latter allegation in Barre’s
2005 ARB suggested that the affiliation between Dahabshiil and al Barakaat was
due to the fact that al Barakaat’s customers seeking to transfer funds for terror
were relocated to Dahabshiil after al Barakaat ceased operations. These two
allegations are directly contradicted by publicly available facts. There is ample
evidence that the Dahabshiil Company for which Barre worked is a legal and
legitimate employer, and that Barre was not engaged in illegal activities while
employed by Dahabshiil. First, as stated above, Dahabshiil is a legal entity not
implicated in terrorism and whose services resemble that of a bank for a
population that lacks traditional banking services. As noted above, Barre’s work
with Dahabshiil was not covert. Indeed, his phone number was publicly listed on
the company’s website in order to facilitate his customers locating him.” A

review of Dahabshiil’s website suggests a company that is vigilant about the legal

7 Petitioner pointed out to his ARB panel that his work at the Dahabshiil Company was not any
different than that of an ordinary banker, at least in terms of knowing one’s customers: “Let’s
say for example a person goes to the bank and wants to transfer some money somewhere else, of
course you are not going to know that person. That person could be a bad person, you would not
know what kind of person he is.” 2005 ARB Tr. at 11.
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complications surrounding its work — with a “Due Diligence Policy,” a United
Nations sponsored auditing and oversight procedure conducted by a reputable
U.S.-based accounting firm, and the “careful{] and diligent[] following [of] all
PATRIOT ACT requirements, including reporting, monitoring, training and
auditing procedures.” See Dahabshiil, “Due Diligence Policy,” atf
www.dahabshiil.com/new/duedilipolicy.asp, available as Exhibit D-6 to CSRT Tr.
Secoﬁd, the transfer of customers from al Barakaat to Dahabshiil, even if that
were sufficient to tarnish all those employed in Dahabshiil’s 400 branches
worldwide, can in no way justify tarnishing Barre. As described in the 9/1]
Commission Report, al Barakaat was designated by OFAC on November 7, 2001
— one week affer Barre’s abduction.® The subsequent transfer of customers who
may have been implicated in terrorism from al Barakaat to Dahabshiil, if it indeed
did occur, would have occurred while Barre was imprisoned.”

viii. Respondents lodged an unsubstantiated allegation against Barre in his CSRT and
again in his 2005 ARB, but not his 2006 ARB, an affiliation with al-Wafaa, a
non-governmental Islamic charity which the U.S. government has identified as a

terrorist organization. CSRT Tr. at 3-4; 2005 ARB Factors at 1. While Barre was

% See Al-Barakaat Case Study, The 9/11 Commission Report, available at http:/www.9-
11commission.gov/staff statements/911 TerrFin Ch5.pdf. The U.S. ended the official blacklist
of Al Barakat. US ends Somali banking blacklist, BBC News, Aug. 28, 2006, available at
hitp://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/africa/5292750.stm (noting suspicion of involvement in terrorism
refuted by report on official inquiry into September 11th attacks).

? As to the attendant claim that some of Petitioner’s counterparts in the United States did not
have licenses, Petitioner pointed out that this had nothing to do with him. He commented: “If
there are people violating the law of the United States, you have to take all the appropriate
measures, but what I know is that Dahabshiil [Clompany has many locations/places in the United
States and they have permission to work out in the open. You are saying that I have connections
with the terrorist, so what is the reason or cause? . . . I worked with the Dahabshiil just like the
rest of the employees that worked with them. So where is the terror and where is my connection
with them? Terror is what departed me from my country and I am one of the people who hates
terror most.” 2005 ARB Tr. at 4.
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pressured repeatedly to admit to membership in al-Wafaa under torture in
Bagram, no evidence has been advanced to support that he is a member or in any
way knowingly or intentionally affiliated with al-Wafaa.'" The only affiliation
that might exist would be due to members of al-Wafaa having Barre’s publicly
available phone number due to the nature of his employment with Dahabshiil."?
Barre first learned of al-Wafaa when he was imprisoned in Pakistan and pressured
to admit to membership in the organization. Since then, Barre has repeatedly and
strongly countered any assertion that he is a member of al-Wafaa, urging the U.S.
military to question known members of al-Wafaa, to review exhaustively his
diligently kept files from his work, and to present evidence to him that he could
then refute. As he stated in his 2005 ARB:

“I was never one day a member of this organization and I did not

hear of [it] until entering the jail in Pakistan from a Pakistani

interrogator officer. I spoke of this at the first tribunal that this

accusation is not true. I requested from them to bring the company

director or manager that is detained here by you [so] he could

testify [to] the truth in front of the tribunal. The reply was that the

tribunal president refused this request and is not allowing this
person to attend this fribunal. I do not know how you want me to

' Barre was imprisoned in Kandahar for three days before he was transported to Bagram Air
Base in Afghanistan. While in Bagram, interrogators pressured Barre to confess that he belonged
to al-Wafaa, but he refused. Barre was then tortured in an effort to gain a confession. According
to Barre’s testimony at his CSRT: “They interrogated me and one of the interrogators told me 1
was from al-Wafa [sic] and I needed to confess to that. You have no choice. I told them it
wasn’t true, They pressured me. They were whisper{ing] something then spoke to the guard.
The guard came in, grabbed me by my neck and threw me. He took me in a bad way to
isolation. AH my blankets, except one, were taken from me. It was freezing cold. They didn’t
feed me lunch and sometimes they didn’t feed me twice. At night it was very cold and if you
don’t eat dinner it gets colder. This torture lasted fifteen to twenty days. My hands and feet
were swollen. I wasn’t able to stand because I was in so much pain. Iasked for treatment and an
interrogator brought a nurse and asked if I wanted treatment. They told me they could cut my
legs to stop the pain. They did this so I would confess to the accusations that I didn’t do.”
CSRT Tr. at 5.

1 At the time of filing, the Dahabshiil Company has more than twenty-five registered agents in
the United States, whose names and contact information are readily available on the Internet.
See http://www.dahabshiil.com/agents.jsp.
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prove to you my innocence from this accusation that was built
upon phone numbers found in my phone memorandum. Based
upon my job that I worked, I received many phone calls from
people I know and from people I do not know. It wasn’t necessary
or requested to me to know all the phone numbers listed in the
memorandum. Dahabshiil Company is not a secret or underground
company. It is on the air directly in the internet and any person
who has the company address can contact any agent from the
company from any country in the world. You also know that I was
arrested from my house where it was my workstation. Also,
information sources that were with me were confiscated like the
computer, files, and notebooks, which provided all the information
about my job and they did not find anything that would show
association with [al-Wafaa].”'*
2005 ARB Tr. at 2-3.
109. Petitioner Barre remains imprisoned in Guantidnamo without lawful process. The
CSRT does not constitute the lawful process to which he is entitled to challenge the legality of
his imprisonment. Moreover, his CSRT was not properly conducted in accordance with the
CSRT rules and procedures promulgated or required to be promulgated by Respondents; the
CSRT has not made a “final decision” that Petitioner Barre is properly detained as an “enemy
combatant™; and/or the conclusion of the CSRT that Petitioner is an “enemy combatant” is not
supported by a preponderance of the evidence.
110. Petitioner Barre is a Somali refugee who cannot safely be returned to Somalia, a
country he fled during a civil war and a country which remains in disarray. UNHCR recognized
his refugee status and granted him mandate protection. He remains at risk of being rendered,

expelled or returned without lawful procedures to a country in which he will be at risk of torture

or persecution.

12 Notably, the United States has detained in Guantinamo men alleged to be knowingly and
intentionally affiliated with al-Wafaa at the highest levels, and has released them. For instance,
Abdul Aziz Al Matrafi, ISN 0035, had been alleged by the Unifed States in his CSRT to have
established and presided over the al-Wafaa organization. Yet, even he has been released.
Indeed, most alleged Al-Wafaa members have been released.
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111. Petitioner Barre desires to pursue in the United States courts every available legal
challenge to the lawfulness of his detention. Petitioner Barre seeks a release from detention and
a safe transfer to Somaliland or another country.

V.
CAUSES OF ACTION

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEK

(28 U.S.C. § 2241, 28 U.S.C. 2242, COMMON LAW - HABEAS CORPUS)

112.  Petitioner incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs as if set forth fully
herein.

113.  Section 7 of the Military Commissions Act of 2006 (“MCA™), Pub. I.. No. 109-
366, 120 Stat. 2600 (2006), is unconstitutional under the Suspension Clause of the Constitution,
Boumediene v. Bush, __ S.Ct. __, Nos. 06-1195, 06-1196 (June 12, 2008), and Petitioner has a
right to relief under 28 U.S.C. 28 US.C. § 2241, 28 U.S.C. § 2241 and the common law over his
habeas claims. See U.S. Const. art. 1, § 9, cl. 2.

114.  Accordingly, Petitioner is entitled to habeas, declaratory, and injunctive relief as

well as any other relief the court may deem appropriate.

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(COMMON LAW DUE PROCESS AND DUE PROCESS CLAUSE
OF THE FIFTH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES
CONSTITUTION — UNLAWFUL DEPRIVATION OF LIBERTY)
115. Petitioner incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs as if set forth fully
herein.
116. By the actions described above, Respondents, acting under color of law, have
violated and continue to violate common law principles of due process as well as the Due

Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States. President Bush

has ordered the prolonged, indefinite, and arbitrary detention of individuals including Petitioner,
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without due process of law, and the remaining Respondents have implemented those orders.
Respondents’ actions deny Petitioner the process accorded to persons seized and detained by the
United States military in times of armed conflict as established by, inter alia, the Uniform Code
of Military Justice, Army Regulation 190-8, Articles 3 and 5 of the Third and Fourth Geneva
Conventions, and customary international law as reflected, expressed, and defined in multilateral
treaties and other international instruments, international and domestic judicial decisions, and
other authorities.

117. To the extent that Petitioner’s detention purports to be authorized by the
Executive Order, that Order violates the Fifth Amendment on its face and as applied to
Petitioner.

118. Accordingly, Petitioner is entitled to habeas, declaratory, and injunctive relief as

well as any other relief the court may deem appropriate.

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEFE

(DUE PROCESS CLAUSE OF THE FIFTH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED
STATES CONSTITUTION — UNLAWFUL CONDITIONS OF CONFINEMENT)

119. Petitioner incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs as if set forth fully
herein.

120. By the actions described above, Respondents, acting under color of law, have
violated and continue to violate the right of Petitioner to be free from unlawful conditions of
confinement, in violation of the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment to the Constitution
of the United States.

121.  Accordingly, Petitioner is entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief as well as

any other relief the court may deem appropriate.
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FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(GENEVA CONVENTIONS — ARBITRARY DENIAL OF DUE PROCESS)

122.  Petitioner incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs as if set forth fully
herein.

123. By the actions described above, Respondents, acting under color of law, have
denied and continue to deny Petitioner the process accorded to persons seized and detained by
the United States military in times of armed conflict as established by specific provisions of the
Third and Fourth Geneva Conventions.

124. Violations of the Geneva Conventions are direct freaty violations and are also
violations of customary international law, and constitute an enforceable claim under 28 U.S.C.
§ 2241 (c)(3).

125.  Respondents are liable for this conduct described above, insofar as they set the
conditions, directly and/or indirectly facilitated, ordered, acquiesced, confirmed, ratified, and/or
conspired to violate the Geneva Conventions.

126.  Accordingly, Petitioner is entitled to habeas, declaratory, and injunctive relief as

well as any other relief the court may deem appropriate.

FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(INTERNATIONAL HUMANITARIAN AND HUMAN
RIGHTS LAW — ARBITRARY DENIJAL OF DUE PROCESS)

127. Petitioner incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs as if set forth fully
herein.

128. By the actions described above, Respondents have denied and continue to deny
Petitioner the process due to persons seized and detained by the United States military in times of

armed conflict as establish by customary international humanitarian and human rights law as
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reflected, expressed, and defined in multilateral treaties and other international instruments and
domestic judicial decisions, and other authorities.

129. Because Respondents are detaining Petitioner “under or by color of the authority
of the United States” and “in violation of the Constitution or laws or treaties of the United
States,” Petitioner’s claim arises under 28 U.S.C.§ 2241, and he is entitled to habeas relief.

130. Petitioner is entitled to habeas, declaratory, and injunctive relief as well as any

other relief the court may deem appropriate.

SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(ALIEN TORT STATUTE - TORTURE)

131.  Petitioner incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs as if set forth fully
herein.

132. By the actions described above, the Respondents directed, ordered, confirmed,
ratified, and/or conspired together and with others to bring about acts that deliberately and
intentionally inflicted severe physical and psychological abuse and agony upon Petitioner in
order to obtain coerced information or confessions from him, punish or intimidate Petitioner or
for other purposes. Among other abuses, Petitioner bas been held in and surrounded by
conditions of isolation; constant vulnerability to repeated interrogation and severe beatings; the
threat or reality of being kept in cages with no privacy; shackled with heavy chains and irons;
placed in solitary confinement or the threat of solitary confinement for minor rule infractions for
prolonged periods of time; interrogated while shackled and chained in painful positions; exposed
to extremes of temperature; subjected to violent behavior or the threat of violence; threatened
with rendition to countries that practice torture; sexually humiliated; denied access to counsel

and family; deprived of adequate medical care; and/or subjected to repeated psychological abuse.
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133. The acts described herein constitute torture in violation of the law of nations
under the Alien Tort Statute, 28 U.S.C. § 1350, in that the acts violate customary international
law prohibiting torture as reflected, expressed, and defined in multilateral treaties and other
international instruments, international and domestic judicial decisions, and other authorities.

134. Respondents are Jiable for said conduct because they directed, ordered,
confirmed, ratified, and/or conspired together and with others to commit the acts of torture
against Petilioner.

135. Petitioner was forced to suffer severe physical and psychological abuse and agony

and is entitled to habeas, declaratory, and injunciive relief and other relief to be determined at

trial.
SEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(ALIEN TORT STATUTE - WAR CRIMES)
136.  Petitioner incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs as if set forth fully
herein.

137. By the actions described above, Respondents’ acts directing, ordering,
confirming, ratifying, and/or conspiring to bring about the torture and other inhumane treatment
of Petitioner constitute war crimes and/or crimes against humanity in violation of the law of
nations under the Alien Tort Statute, 28 U.S.C. § 1350, in that the acts violated, among others,
the Fourth Geneva Convention, Common Article Il of the Geneva Conventions and Additional
Protocols I and II of the Geneva Conventions as well as customary international law prohibiting
war crimes as reflected, expressed, and defined in other multilateral treaties and international

instruments, international and domestic judicial decision, and other authorities.
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138.  As aresult of Respondents’ unlawful conduct, Petitioner has been and is forced to
suffer severe physical and psychological abuse and agony, and is therefore entitled to

declaratory, and injunctive relief, and such other relief as the court may deem appropriate.

EIGHTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(ALIEN TORT STATUTE -
CRUEL, INHUMAN OR DEGRADING TREATMENT)

139.  Petitioner incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs as if set forth fully
herein.

140. The acts described herein had the intent and the effect of grossly humiliating and
debasing Petitioner, forcing him to act against his will and conscience, inciting fear and anguish,
and breaking his physical or moral resistance.

141. The acts described herein constitute cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment in
violation of the law of nations under the Alien Tort Statute, 28 U.S.C. § 1350, in that the acts
violated customary international law prohibiting cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment as
reflected, expressed, and defined in multilateral treaties and other international instruments,
international and domestic judicial decisions, and other authorities.

142. Respondents are liable for said conduct in that they directed, ordered, confirmed,
ratified, and/or conspired together and with others to cause the cruel, inhuman or degrading
treatment of Petitioner.

143, Petitioner was forced to suffer severe physical and psychological abuse and agony

and is entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief as well as other relief to be determined at trial.

NINTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(ALIEN TORT STATUTE — ARBITRARY ARREST
AND PROLONGED ARBITRARY DETENTION)
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144. Petitioner incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs as if set forth fully
herein.

145. The acts described herein constitute arbitrary arrest and detention of Petitioner in
violation of the law of nations under the Alien Tort Statute, 28 U.S.C. § 1350, in that the acts
violated customary international law prohibiting arbitrary detention as reflected, expressed, and
defined in multilateral treaties and other international instruments, international and domestic
judicial decisions, and other authorities.

146. Respondents are liable for said conduct in that they directed, ordered, confirmed,
ratified, and/or conspired together and with others to bring about the arbitrary arrest and
prolonged arbitrary detention of Petitioner in violation of the law of nations under the Alien Tort
Statute, 28 U.S.C. § 1350, in that the acts violated customary international law prohibiting
arbitrary arrest and prolonged arbitrary detention as reflected, expressed, and defined in
multilateral treaties and other international instruments, international and domestic judicial
decisions, and other authorities.

147.  As aresult of Respondents’ unlawful conduct, Petitioner has been and is deprived
of his freedom, separated from his family, and forced to suffer severe physical and mental abuse,
and is therefore entitled to habeas, declaratory, and injunctive relief, and such other relief as the

court may deem appropriate.

TENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(ALJEN TORT STATUTE —~ ENFORCED DISAPPEARANCE)
148.  Petitioner incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs as if set forth fully
herein.
149. By the actions described above, the Respondents directed, ordered, confirmed,

ratified, and/or conspired to bring about the enforced disappearance of Petitioner in violation of
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the law of nations under the Alien Tort Statute, 28 U.S.C. § 1350, in that the acts violated
customary international law prohibiting enforced disappearances as reflected, expressed, and
defined in multilateral treaties and other international instruments, international and domestic
judicial decisions, and other authorities.

150.  As aresult of Respondents” unlawful conduct, Petitioner has been and is deprived
of his freedom, separate& from his family, and forced to suffer severe physical and mental abuse,
and is therefore entitled to habeas, declaratory and injunctive relief and such other relief as the

court may deem appropriate.

ELEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(ARTICLE II OF THE UNITED STATES
CONSTITUTION - UNLAWFUL DETENTION)

151. Petitioner incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs as if set forth fully
herein.

152. Petitioner is not, nor has he ever been, an enemy alien, lawful or unlawful
belligerent, or combatant of any kind. The Executive lacks the authority to order or direct
military officials to detain civilians who are seized far from the theater of war or occupied
territory or who were not “carrying a weapon against American troops on a foreign battlefield.”
Hamdi v. Rumsfeld, 542 1.S. 507, 522n.1 (2004),

153. By the actions described above, President Bush has exceeded and continues to
exceed the Executive’s authority under Article II of the United States Constitution by
authorizing, ordering and directing that military officials seize Petitioner and transfer him to
military detention, and by authorizing and ordering his continued military detention at
Guantdnamo. All of the Respondents acted and continue to act without lawful authority by

directing, ordering, and/or supervising the seizure and military detention of Petitioner.
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154.  The military seizure and detention of Petitioner by the Respondents is w/tra vires
and illegal because it is in violation of Article II of the United States Constitution. To the extent
that the Executive asserts that Petitioner’s detention is authorized by the Executive Order, that
Order exceeds the Executive’s authority under Article Il and is wlfra vires and void on its face
and as applied to Petitioner.

155. To the extent that Respondents assert that their authority to detain Petitioner
derives from a source other than the Executive Order, including without limitation the
Executive’s inherent authority to conduct foreign affairs or to serve as Commander-in-Chief of
the U.S. Armed Forces, whether from Article II of the Constitution or otherwise, Respondents
lack that authority as a matter of fact and law. |

156.  Accordingly, Petitioner is entitled to habeas, declaratory, and injunctive relief, as

well as any other relief the court may deem appropriate.

TWELFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(VIOLATION OF THE APA — ARBITRARY
AND CAPRICIOUS UNLAWFUL DETENTION)

157. Petitioner incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs as if set forth fully
herein.

158.  Army Regulation 190-8 prohibits the detention of civilians who were seized away
from the field of battle or outside occupied territory or who were not engaged in combat against
the United States. See, e.g., Army Reg. 190-8 at 1-6(g) (“Persons who have been determined by
a competent tribunal not to be entitled to prisoner of war status may not be executed, imprisoned,
or otherwise penalized without further proceedings to determine what acts they have committed

and what penalty should be imposed.”).
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159. By arbitrarily and capriciously detaining Petitioner in military custody for over
four years in the manner described above, Respondents have acted and continue to act ulira vires
and unIawftﬂle in violation of the Administrative Procedures Act, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2).

160.  Accordingly, Petitioner is entitled to habeas, declaratory, and injunctive relief, as

well as any other relief the court may deem appropriate.

THIRTEENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(VIOLATION OF THE APA — ARBITRARY
AND CAPRICIOUS DENIAL OF DUE PROCESS)

161. Petitioner incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs as if set forth fully
herein.

162. By the actions described above, Respondents, acting under color of law, have
arbitrarily and capriciously denied and continue to deny Petitioner the process accorded to
persons seized and detained by the United States military in times of armed conflict as
established by Army Regulation 190-8 in violation of the Administrative Procedures Act, 5
U.S.C. § 706(2).

163.  Accordingly, Petitioner is entitled to habeas, declaratory, and injunctive relief, as

well as any other relief the court may deem appropriate.

FOURTEENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(VIOLATION OF THE APA - TORTURE AND
CRUEL, INHUMAN OR DEGRADING TREATMENT)
164. Petitioner incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs as if set forth fully
herein.

165. By the actions described above, the Respondents have acted and continue to act

arbitrarily and capriciously by directing, ordering, confirming, ratifying, and/or conspiring to
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unlawfully subject Petitioner to torture and/or cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment in violation
of Army Regulation 190-8 and the Administrative Procedures Act, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2).
166.  Accordingly, Petitioner is entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief, as well as

any other relief the court may deem appropriate.

FIFEENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(FIFTH AND SIXTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION -
VIOLATION OF THE RIGHT TO COUNSEL AND TO ACCESS TO THE COURTS)

167. Petitioner incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs as if set forth fully
herein.

168. Respondents, purportedly acting from a concern for national security, consistently
have contrived to intrude upon Petitioner’s right to consult with counsel by conditioning
counsel’s access to Petitioner on unreasonable terms, including classification/declassification
procedures, all in violation of Petitioner’s attorney-client privilege, his work product privilege,
and the Fifth and Sixth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution.

169.  Accordingly, Petitioner is entitled to habeas, declaratory, and injunctive relief, as

well as any other relief the court may deem appropriate.

SIXTEENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(28 U.S.C. § 1651, CONVENTION AGAINST TORTURE, INTERNATIONAL
COVENANT ON CIVIL AND POLITICAL RIGHTS, THIRD AND FOURTH GENEVA
CONVENTIONS, DUE PROCESS CLAUSE OF THE FIFTH AMENDMENT -
RENDITION)

170. Petitioner incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs as if set forth fully
herein.
171. Petitioner is at risk of being rendered, expelled or returned without lawful

procedures to a country where he would be at risk of torture or persecution. This Court has

inherent power and jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1651, in aid of its own jurisdiction, to address
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the potential rendition or transfer of Petitioner. Additionally, the transfer of the Petitioner to a
country that creates a foreseeable and direct risk that he will be subjected to torture constitutes a
violation of Petitioner’s rights under the Convention Against Torture, International Covenant on
Civil and Political Rights, Third and Fourth Geneva Conventions, and the Due Process Clause of
the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

172.  Accordingly, Petitioner is entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief, as well as
any other relief the court may deem appropriate.

VL
PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Petitioner prays for relief as follows:
1. Grant the Writ of Habeas Corpus and order Respondents to release Petitioner

from his current unlawful detention;

2. Order that Petitioner be brought before the Court or before a Magistrate Judge
assigned by the Court at a convenient facility to conduct proceedings under the supervision of

the Court to vindicate his rights;

3. Order that Petitioner cannot be transferred to any other country without the

specific, written agreement of Petitioner and/or Petitioner’s counsel while this action is pending;

4, Order that Petitioner cannot be delivered, returned, or rendered to a country where

there is a foreseeable and imminent risk that Petitioner will be subject to torture;

5. Order Respondents to allow counsel immediately to meet and confer with

Petitioner, in private and unmonitored attorney-client conversations;

6. Order Respondents to cease all interrogations of Petitioner, direct or indirect,

while this litigation is pending;
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7. Order Respondents to cease all acts of torture; cruel, inhuman and degrading

treatment; and outrages upon the personal dignity of Petitioner;

8. Order and declare the Executive Order of November 13, 2001 is ultra vires and
unlawful in violation of Article II of the United States Constitution, the Fifth Amendment to the
United States Constitution, the Uniform Code of Military Justice, the Administrative Procedures
Act, 5 US.C. § 702, federal common law, the treaties of the United States and customary

mternational law;

9. Order and declare that the prolonged, indefinite, and restrictive detention of
Petitioner without due process is arbitrary and unlawful and a deprivation of liberty without due
process in violation of common law principles of due process, the Due Process Clause of the
Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution, the regulations of the United States military,
the treaties of the United States, and customary international human rights and humanitarian law;

and

10.  Grant such other relief as the Cowt may deem necessary and appropriate to
protect Petitioner’s rights under the common law, the United States Constitution, federal

statutory law and international law.

Dated: New York, New York
June 26, 2008

Respectfully submitted,

Co?el-fm;;eﬁﬁ oners:

Emilou MacLean

J. Wells Dixon

Pardiss Kebriaei

CENTER FOR CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS
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666 Broadway, 7th Floor
New York, New York 10012
Tel: (212) 614-6461

Fax: (212) 614-6499
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CERTIFICATION OF REPRESENTATION WITHOUT COMPENSATION

Counsel for Petitioner hereby certify, pursuant to L. Cv. R. 83.2(g), that they are

representing Petitioner without compensation.

Dated: New York, New York T ;)
June 26, 2008 Z M

Emilou MacLean

J. Wels Dixon

Pardiss Kebriaei

CENTER FOR CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS
666 Broadway, 7th Floor

New York, New York 10012

Tel; (212) 614-6461

Fax: (212) 614-6499




Case 1:08-cv-01153-HHK  Document1  Filed 07/01/2008 Page 58 of 113

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I hereby certify that I caused a true and correct copy of the foregoing Petition of UN

Mandate Refugee for Writ of Habeas Corpus and Other Relief to be filed and served on counsel
listed below by causing an original and six copies to be delivered to the Court Security Office via
overnight mail. Counsel for Respondents has agreed to accept service of this Petition on behalf
of all Respondents.

Terry M. Loeb, Esq.

Senior Trial Counsel

Civil Division, Federal Programs Branch

U.S. Department of Justice

20 Massachusetts Avenue, N.W,
Washington, DC 20530

Counsel for Respondents

Emilou MacLean
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Exhibit 1
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Department of Defense
l)xrector, Combatant Status .Rewew Tribunals

| FoR-oENGHEUeeNA 20 AN 2005
From: Director, Coxixbatant Status Review Tribunal _ | o Y

~ Subj: REVIEW OF COMBATANT STATUS REVIEW TRIBUNAL FOR
‘DETAINEE ISN # 567

Ref' (a) Deputy Secreﬁary of Detfense Order of 7 July 2004
(b) Secretary of the Navy Order of 29 July 2004 ..

1. I coneur in the declsmn of the Combatant Status Revzew Tribunal that Detainee ISN # 567
meets the criteria for des:gnauon as an Bnemy Combatant, in accordance with references (a) and

(b).

2. This case is now conmiered ﬁnal and the detamee will be scheduled for an Admm;.stratwe

Review Board. _ _
7M. McGARRAH
-RADM, CEC, USN
Distribution:

DoS (Am assador osper)
. DASD-DA
JCS (35)
SOUTHCOM (CoS)
COMJTFGTMO
- OARDEC (Fwd)
CITF Fi Belvoir

W . | i  _0‘0000_1-'

OARDEC/Se: 8§50
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MEMORANDUM

. UNCLASSIFIED .

25 Jan 05

From: Assistant Lepal Advisor

To:
Via:

Subj:

Ref

Encl:

Director, Combatant Status Rewaw Tnbtmal
Legal Advisor m

LEGAL STJFFICIENCY REVIEW OF COMBATANT S'I‘ATUS REVIEW TRIBUNAL
FOR DETAINEE ISN # 567

(a) Deputy Secretary of Defense Order of 7 July 2004 -
(b) Secretary of the Navy hnplementatzon Directive of 29 July 2004

) Appomting Order for Tribunal # 15 of 12 October 2004
(2) Cherry/Paradiso email series.did 17 November 2004 '
(3) Record of Tribunal Proccedmgs

L. Legal sufﬁcwncy review has been compieted on the subject Combétanf: Status Review

Tribunal in accordance with references (2) and (b). After reviewing the record of the Tnbunai I
find that: :

a. The detainee was properly notified of and actively parhclpated in the Tribunal process

- The detamee provided a sworn oral statement at the Tnbunal hearing.

" b. The Tribunal was properly convened and constituted by enclosure (1).

c. The Tribunal substantially complied with all provisions of references (a) and (b).

~ Note that some information in exhibits R-5 and R-7 was redacted, The FBI propéerly

certified in exhibit R-2 fhat the redacted irtfformation would not support a determination
that the detainee is not an encmy combatant. Additionally, information in exhibits R-6,
R-16, and R-17 has been redacted. It is clear that the redacted information consists of
portions of Internment Serial Numbers (ISNs) and classification marks and that the

redacted information would not support a determmatlon that the detamee is not an enemy
combatant

Enclosure (1) to the Tnbunal Decision Report mcorrectly refers to the hearmg tribunal as
Tribunal # 5. In fact, Tribunal #15 conducted the hearing. This clerical error does not
affect the legal sufficiency of the hearing and no corrective achon is nieeded.

d. The Personal Representatlve Comments section of exhibit D-a states that “[t}hls
detainee actually went to a Tribunal once before, which was recessed early in the
proceedings because the detainee said he didn’t know he could call witnesses. * The
Assistant Legal Advisor was contacted and he spoke to the Personal Representative who
‘indicated that the statement Was an etror. The detainee’s witness request was made at his

'_UNcmssmi:ED ) g ‘00000_2‘., >‘
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UNCLASSIFIED

Subj: . LEGAL SUFFICIENCY REVIEW OF COMBATANT STATUS REVIEW TRIBUNAL
. FOR DETAINEE ISN # 567 :

* final interview with his Persona] Representative. The Tnbunal did not start and then
recess. (See e-mail dated 17 November 2004). This was a clerical error that should have
been noted in the Tribunal Decision Report. However, neither the clerical error; nor the -
administrative error in failing to note it, affects the legal sufficiency of the exhibit or the

“Tribunal Decision Report. The detainee was not prejudiced. No correcnve action is
required.

"e. The detainee stated during the hearing that he had been tortured while in custody in
Afghanistan. (See page 5, enclosure (3) of the Tribunal Decision Report). While not
reflected in the Tribunal Dec1s10n Report this ailegatmn has been repori:ed No further
action is requlred ' . .

f. The detainee requested three witnesses, all of whom were detainees. The Tribunal '
President determined that all three witnesses were relevant, One of the witnesses
declined to participate in the proceeding. - Under the circumstances, the Tribunal
President determined that the witness was not reasonably available. In my opinion, this

. decision was not an abuse of discretion. The detainee later withdrew the request for the -
other two wiinesses after he was informed of their expected testimony by his Personal =
Representaﬁve who had prekusly interviewed the witnesses.

The detainee did not request any other witnesses or ewdence

g. The Tribunal’s decision that detainee # 567 is prope}:iy classxﬁed as an enemy
combatant was unanimous.

2 The proceedings and decision of the Tribunal as reﬂected in enclosure (3)yare legally
sufficient ami no corrective action is required.

3 I recommend that the decision of the Tribunal be approved and the case be considered final.

B@%ERME; ;%OUT

CDR, JAGC, USNR

UNCLAZSI?IED_ o " .000003 :
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OARDEC)

From:
Sent:
To:
. Subject:

. 5 S l

Classification:t UNCLASSIFIED
Cavenisg: WG L

Six,

‘Below is what I sent you yesterday. Thanks for the help w/ the [N

‘V/R

Not as beat downm (but still angry)

Attached is the PR's response to our 567 question., This was his first .
_ tribunal and he made a mistake. He's a really good PR besides this

mistake. .

Let me know if you need anything else. Thanks, Sir.

V/R

bTha Detainee Electlon Form is iricorrect.. The request for witr‘messées came
:ﬁe final interview not at the tribunal.

I apologize for the. error on the DEF. ~ it is ny fault.

567's "f-‘irial" interview (wile're 'he‘réquested witnesses) was 12 Oct 04.
Classification:t UNCLASSIFIED

Caveats: g ;

Classification: UNCLAS S I F T ED
Caveats: =hbiis :

. 000004
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Department of Defense
Dzrector Combata.nt Status Review Tnbunals

, 12 Oct- 04
From:" anector, Combatant Status Rewew Tnbunals . , |
Subj: APPOINTMENT OF COMBATANT STATUS REVIEW TRIBUNAL #15 '
Ref: (a) Convenmg Authority Appmnﬁnent Letter of 9 July 20Q4 ,

- By the authority given to me in reference (a), 2 Combatant Status Review Tribunal
established by “Implementation of Combatant Status Review Tribunal Procedures for' -
Enemy Combatants Detained at Guantanamo Bay Naval Base, Cuba” datéd 29 July 2004
is hereby convened. It shall hear such cases as shall be brought before it without further
action of referral or otherwise. ,

The following commissioned ofﬁcérs shall serve as members of the Tribunal:

MEMBERS: -

B, Colonel, U.S. Air Force; President

- PE ] Lieutenant Colonel, U.S. AirForce;.Member
" (JAG) : .

Lisutenant Commander,_ 1.8, Navy; Member
J. M. McGARRAH -
Rear Admiral

Civil Engineer Corps - '
Tnited States Navy

1000005 -
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HEADQUARTERS OARDEC FORWARD
GUANTANAMO BAY, CUBA '
APG AE 09360

11 November 2004 -
- MEMORANDUM FOR DIRECTOR; CSRT o

FROM: OA.RDEC F ORWARD Comma"nder

| SUBJECT CSRT Record ofProceedmgs ICO ISN# 567

1. ?ursuant to Enclosu:tre (1), paragraph (I){5) of the Implementation of Cambatant Status Review -
Tribunal Procedures for Enemy Combatants Detained at Guantanamo Bay Naval Base, Cuba

dated 29 July 2004, I am forwarding the Combatant Status Revzew Tribunal Decl.sxon Report for
the above men‘moned ISN for review and actlon ‘ .

2. If there are any questions resarding thxs package, point of contact on this matter is the
underslgned at DSN

£DF CHAKLES B. JAMISON
| CAPT, USN

000006
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| mmfm

() Com|] Cambatant Status Rev;ew 'I’rlbunal Decision Report Cover Sbeet

(U) Tlns Document is WCLASSIF[ED Upon Removai of Enc!osm'es {2) and (4)

(U)TRIBUNALPANEL: ¥15
(U)ISN#: ___ 567

Ref: (2) () Convemng Order for Tribunal #15 of 12 OC.tober 2004] (U) |
(b) (U) CSRT Implementation Dirgétive of 29 July 2004 (U) '
“(¢) (U) DEPSECDEF Mema of }. y 2004 (U)

Encl: (1) (U) Unclassified Summary of Basis for Tnbunal Decision (Ufﬁ@ﬁ@)
' (2) (U) Classified Summary of Basis for Tribunal Decision (e
(3) (U) Summary of Detainge/Witness Testimony (U/sade)
{4) (U) Copies of Documentary Evidence Presented (Se)
(5) (1) Personal Reprasentatwe s Record Review (UEO@G)

1. (U) This Tribunal was convened by references (a) and (b) to make a determmatxon as .
to whether the detainee meets the criteria o be demgnated as an anemy ccmbatant as

| deﬁned in raference (©).

- ".. é U) @n 29 Oci 2004 the Tnbtmal determined, by a preponderauce of the ev1dence, that
%Detamee #567 is properly designated as an enemy combatant as defined in reference (c)

’ 3. (U) In particuldr, the Tribunal finds that this detamae isa member of or affiliated
mth, al Wafa and al Qaida, as more fully discussed in the enclosures.

4. (1) Enclo'sure.( 1) provides an unclassified account of the basis for the Tribunal’s .
decision. A detailed account of the evidence considered by the Tribunal and its fmdmgs
, . of fact are contained in enclosures (1) and (2).

: Multiple S Gﬁémlf}ﬂ :-‘ ' ‘
. pECIASERL . - - 000007
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' UNCLASSIFIEDIMO

UNCLASSIFIED SUNEMLARY OF BASIS FOR TRIBUNAL
DECISION

(Enclusure (1) fo Combatant Status Rewew Tribanal Beclsmn Repurt)

TRIBUNAL PANEL: #5
ISN#: ' 567

1. Introductmn

‘As the Combatant Status Revxew Tribunal (CSRT) Demsmn Report indicates, the
Tribunal has determined that this detainee is properly classified as an enemy combatant -
and is a meniber of, or affiliated with, al Wafa and al Qaida. In reaching its conclusions,
the Tribunal consideréd both classified and unclassified information. The following is an
account of the unclassified evidence considered by the Tribunal and other pertment
- information. Classified evidence considered by the Tribunal is discussed in Enclosure @
‘fo the CSRT Decision Report.

2. Synops:s of Proceed:ngs

The unciassﬁied summary of the evidence prcsented to the Tribunal by the Recorder
indicated that the detainee supported forces engaged in hostilities against the United -
‘States and its coalition partners in that he was a member of the al Wafa organization. -
The detainee chose to participate in the Tribunal process, He requested three witnesses,
requested no documents be produced, and made a swom verbal statement. The Tribunal
President found one of the requested witnesses not reasonably available, and that
~ alternative means of producing the witness’s testimony were also not reasonably
available. The President found the other two witnesses relevant, but the detainee
withdrew his request for these witnesses prior to his hearing. The detainee, in his verbal
. statement, denied being a member of al Wafa and claimed that if he had admitted to
being an al Wafa member in the past it was because he had been tortured while in
~ custody in Afghanistan. He further claimed that he was simply an employee ofa
legitimate company known as the Dahabshiil Money Transfer Company The detainee’s
allegations of torture were forwarded to the appropriate authorities, in accordance with
CSRT policy. The Tribunal President’s witness ruhngs are explained below.

3 Evidence Consxdered by the Trlbunal
The Tribunal conmdered the foilomng evidence in reaching 1ts conclusions:
a. Exhlbxts D—a through D:b and R-1 through R—17

‘e Swom statement of the detamee.

*. UNCLASSIFIED/S0¥® L sN#seT
. ’ . ‘ Enclosure (1)
- Page 1 of3.

000008
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UNCLASSIFIED//Fo%e)

4. Rulings‘ﬁy the Tribunal on Detainee Req}zesis for Evidence or Witnesses

The Detainee requested the following witnesses be produced for the heaiing:

Witness : " President’s Decision _ _ Testified? |
- GTMO Detaince #005 ~ not reasonably available - ' no*. |
GTMO Détaines #568  relovant I 0%

| ; GTMO Detamee #3577 | . relevant '. ‘ ' no*

* The Tribunal President found that these three witnesses would be relevant to the
Tribunal, and appmved them. The Personal Representative (PR) then interviewed
Detainees #568 and #577 and attempted to interview Detainee #005. Detainee #0035
refused to speak to the PR and indicated that he was not willing to speak t0 anyone about
this case, The Tribunal President then found him not feéasonably available to testify.
After interviewing Detainees #568 and #577, the PR discussed the inferviews with
Detainee #567. After hearing what these detainees were expected to say, the datamee :

- withdrew h1s request to have these mdmduais testify at his tribunal.

5. Dlscussmn of Unclassxfied Evidence . B

" The Tribunal considered the following unclassified ev}dence in making :ts
detennmahons

a; The recorder offered Exhibits R-1 through R-3 into evidence during the
‘unclassified portion of the proceeding. Exhibit R-1 i$ the Unclassified Summary of
* Bvidence. While this summary is helpful in that it provides a broad outline of what the
-Tribunal can expect to ses, it is not persuasive in that it provides conclusory statements -
without supportmg unclassified evidence. Exhibit R-2 provided no usable evidence..
. Exhibit R-3 is a reproduction of Executive Order #13224. For the most part, the Tribunal
had to look to classaﬁed exhibits for support of the Unclassified Summary of Evidence.

b. Essentlally the only unclassified evidence the Tribunal had to consider was the
detainee’s sworn testimony and Exhibit D-b, which provided the Tribunal with ‘
information regarding the Dahabshiil Corporation. A summarized transcript of the

+ detainee’s sworn testimony is attached as CSRT Decision Report Enclosure (3). In sum,
the detainee testified that he left Somalia in 1994 to escape civil war and seek
employment, He moved to Pakistan and eventually got a job with the Dahabshiil .
Company. This company, he explained, is similar to a bank, and conducts money

- transfers for people that don’t have access to a conventional bank. He said that all the
transactions he conducted were in the course of his business, and that he had no
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knowledge of conductmg transfers for al Wafa He repeatedly mainfained hls innocence
and claimed that he has been wrongly accused of supportmg terrorism. .

The Tribunal also relied on certain classified evidence in reaching its decision. A
discussion of the classified evidence is found in Enclosure (2) to the Combatant Status
Review Tnbunal Deczsmn Report.

6. Consultatmns w1th the CSRT Legal Advzsor

" No issues arose during the course of this hearmg that requ:red consultation with the
CSRT legal advisor. -

7. Gonclusiohs oi‘ tlie Triimna!

Upon careful review of all the evidence presented in this matter, the Tribunal makes the .
following determinations: '

a. The detamcc was mentally and physically capablc of partmpatmg in the
‘ 'proceedmg No medical or mental health evaluation was deemed necessary :

: b. The detainee understood the Tribimal proceedmgs He indicated that he :
understood the proceedings, fully participated in his hearing, asked relevant quesnons
and provided helpful information dmrmg his sworn statement.

c. The detainee is properly classified as an enemy combatant and is 4 member of,
or affiliated w1th al Wafa and al Qaida. .

-8. Dissenting Tribunal Member’s report
None. The Tnbunal reached a unammous decision.

Respectfully submitted

“b es_ld
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. Shinmarized Sworn Detaihée Statemént

. When asked by the Tribunal Presxdcnt if the detainee understood the CSRT procass, the
‘Detamee answered, “Yes »”

[The Tn’ounal President made the foiiowmg commcnts regardmg the previous mmess
request by the Detainee: ]

Tribunal President: The Detainee had prevxously requested three witnesses.

Detamee Yas

: Tribunal President: One of the ﬂn‘eé witnesses refused to testify.
Detamee Who refused?

Tribunal President: He is referenced in the request as Detainee 005. 1 mie because he
did not wish to testify, he is not reasonably available.

Detainee: He refused or was he prohibited?

“Tribunal President: He refused to see us. The other two witnesses were willing to testify,
 but 1 understand that you withdrew your request for them to be here a.nd provide
- testimony. Is that correct‘?

Detainee: My Personal Representauve told me after he had met with my two witnesses,
they told him they were not with the al-Wafa organization, When [ was talking to

.investigators they told me the two Detainees were from the al-Wafa organization, but
after the Personal Representative asked them-and they said they were not from al-Wafa
then they would have no value in testlfymg for me.

Tribunal I’re_sident‘: There will be no witnesses at this hearing today.
[After taking the Muslim Oath, the Detainee made the following statement]:

Detainee: - The first accusation that I traveled from my country voluntarily to Pakistan in
1994, There was a civil war inside Somalia and anyone who wanted to leave Somalia .

* was able to, Whoever was capable of leaving, they left. Several Somalians left and are
now living in the United States, Europe, and other countries. Ilefi the country because of
the continuing civil war. The places I was allowed to go was one of the countries I -
mentioned before. I don’t understand what you mean by voluntarily leaving my country. -

Iwill ask the Pres:dent 1s leavmg the country because of czval wars a crime? -

“ISN #567
" Enclosure (3)
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Tribunal President: We are not here on a criminal case. We just want to understand what
may make you an enemy combatant. Moving from one country to another in itself does
not make you an enemy combatant. It was why you left the country is something we can
cons:der and we appreclate your statement on that fact,

Detamee. I I_wed in the North of Somalia, it is now mdependent, but not believed by
other countries to be a couniry. It is called the Republic of Somalia. Before Somalia was
. reunited it was called North West Somalia. That is the area I left and it was the first area
to start a civil war in 1978 or 1988. During that time, I was studying at the University of
Agriculture that was close to Mogadishu. My family lived in the area where the civil war -
was. I was completely cut off from my family. I continued my studies in a difficult
situation. During that time the Somalian government was headed by President.
Mohammed Said Budee. He 'was a dictator and several people suffered under that
dictator. While I was studying at the University, | was cutoff from my family. The war .
continned until I finished my studies, then the war spread to all of Somalia. - The last area -
the war started was the capital of Somalia. That is where the President was located.

Previously, the war was between the North and the Army, then the war tumed into a -
Tribal war. After the war started in the Capital, everyone had to return to where they
were from. I went to my neighborhood, the North area. After the government and
Capital fell, the North entered the battle they were fighting against the government. They

announced then‘ independence from the rest of Somalia, but up until now the war
continues, The continuing war forced me to leave my country, 1 wanted to seek a safer

- place to live. Iwas hoping to go to a comntry, such as the Gulf countries, Europe, or the
‘United States where I could find a job. I was unable to financially. My family suffered
through the war. They were unable to support me. I was capable of going to India then
on to Pakigtan. My goal wasn’t to stay in that country. I wanted to go to an economical

+ country such as Europe or the United States. Several Somalians went to those countries.

~ As Imentioned before, that is the reason I went to Paklstan

Ileft the country under the United Nations umbrella. Iwas a refugee in Pakistan. Life
there was very difficult and help from the United Nations was limited. It was hardto -
find work because jobs were limited. I arrived in Pakistan in 1994 via India. I forgot to
mention earlier, that I went from the North of Somalia to India and from India to
Pakistan. Ihave been telling this story for three years now. Since so much time has
- passed, | may have missed some steps because I can’t remember. I'was able to become a
- refugee and got help. Without help, how could you live there?

I lived there until 1995 and then went to Karachi. I found a job, but it wasn 't stable. It
- involved people who wanted a translator for real estate. It was similar to a social real
estate worker,

Regardmg the second pomt, I got ajob at the Dehabshnl Company The Dehabshiil
~ Company is a company that transfers money similar to a bank, During the war, whatever .
Somalians got from the government ended there. The civil wars caused sgaveral people to

" ISN #567
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_ flee the country. This Dehabshiil company helped transfer money to those people that
‘needed it, especially those who couldn’t use banks. There are no banks in Somalia. -
‘Dehabshiil is a large company, with several branches all over the world especially in

places were there are a lot of Somalian people. It is a well-known international company
and you can find out any information about it on it’s website. My office was just like all
the other offices. My name and address is on their website and anyone with internet
access was capable of getting in contdct with me. My job was to receive the money and
transfer it to students and families who needed it in Somalia. The people in Somalia were
not there to work and they weren’t capable of transferring a lot of money, however their
families were capable of sending them money. This money was transferred directly to
the main office in Somalia. That was the work I did for the company. It was the same

' work the other agents did, mcludmg the agents in the United Staies

~ I'want to thank my Personal Representative. When I provided him with thzs mfonnatlon
he honestly went on the internet into Dehabshiil’s website and downloaded important
information. He promised he would present it in the Tribunal Hopefully you will see it.

[Detainee asked Personal Representatwc ifhe would hke to present the mformatlon fmm
the internet.] : '

Tribunal President: Iwould hke to get through your statement first. There willbea - .
place Where we will ask for additional evidence. :

Detamee: Good.
[Detainee continued statement:]

The information you receive froni the Personal Representative will show ydu that the .
. Dehabshiil is a clean company and doss clean work. If they weren't, they wouldn’t have
offices in the United States

The third pomt {refemng to the Unclassified Summary of Ewdence] is not one hundred
percent correct. It is an exaggeration. Inever heard of the al-Wafa organization until I
" entered the prison in Pakistan and I have never worked for them. The people that -
interrogated me for the last three years know this. It appears they didn’t tell the truth
when those a¢cusations were presented. 1 wasn’t arrested in the streets or mountains but
inside my home, where I also.worked. My office was inside of my house. Al of the
equipment I used for the Dehabshiil Company was in my house. Ihad a computer, files,
books, fax machine, and & telephone. Everything I needed was in my house. After I was
arrested at my house, you should have had enough evidence to show whether or not I was
‘connected to al-Wafa. Al the accusations against me are based on some telephone -
numbers found on a list. As I have mentioned before, my work at Dehabshiil has a
website on the internet and anyone can access that website. My name and phone number
. was popular on that page. I would get several calls a day, some were from people 1 knew.
- and some ‘weren’t.’ The accusations against me are based on those phone numbers.

ISN #567
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The inferrogators told me the members were with them when the accusations were made
about me. I told interrogators if all of the members are here they can testify and the truth
. well come out. They might have told the truth, only God knows. I heard the guy who
* was the President of the organization was at Camp 5. My Personal Representative told
me that the President of the Tribunal refused the witness because that person refused to

talk to my Personal Representative. I’m not surprised, a lot of people are swk of talking’
: aﬁer all tlus txma

I _]DS’E wanted to ask the witness if I was from his organization or not. It didn’t concern
him it concerned me. This person matters because he is the President and he would know
who is in his organization and who wasn’t. ’I‘ha’t was a very important point for me but it
was lazmess on. your part.

jiif 1t were possible to .bring that witness with a Translator and rmy Personal Representative -
and if that person could have testified that would have béen enough., One of the other

witnesses phone number was found on one of the lists of phone numbers that Al Allak - -

was accused of getting in contact with al-Wafa with. Investigators told me he was from’
the al~Wafa organization and because of the phone call that is why I was accused of being
-with al-Wafa. That is why I wanted hnn o tesufy

When my Personal Representatwe came back and told me the witnesses were denying
.they were from the al-Wafa organization, I told myself how can they testify? Allthe .~
_ accusations against me are unjust. I am innocent of them all.

Here is a summary of my story from the day I was arrested until the day I got-here. T was
arrested in my house on the first of November 2001, between 02:30 till 03:00, The
Pakistani Intelligence came to my home and investigated me on three occasions. The

~ time period betwéen those three investigations was about three weeks. -After each visit

“they asked me about my job, and what I did. During this time I wasn’t worried because I -
didn’t feel like I had déne anything wrong. If I thought I had done anything wrong
against any reglon or ()Igamzatmn I wouldn’t have stayed in my home until [ was
arrested. ‘

When they took me to prison, T was told they were investigating me and in the moining [
could go honie. My wife was with me at home when I was arrested. It was justherandl -
in the house. No one else was with us, When I was kidnapped at 02;30 they left my
family alone at the house. Up to now, ] haven’t learned anything about what has _
happened fo her. 1 stayed at that prison for about four months, The investigators said
they were Pakistani and Americans. The Pakistani’s told me those English men were

. investigating me. They talked to me twice. The third time they brought pictures and -
showed them to me. During that time I was told by the Pakistanis, I was going to be
released and sent home since the investigation was completed, They toldme lwasa o
suspect because of those telephone calls but because you worked for that large company
(Dehabshiil) they. told me it wasn’t unusual to talk to so many ‘people on the phone. They
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- would tell me every now.and then maybe I would be released to Islamabad or sent back
to Somalia. After I completed four months in prison, they blindfolded me with a group
that was arrested in Karachi and handed me over to the American forces. The Pakistanis
told me 1 would go to a neighboring couniry. I was taken to an American base in _
Afghanistan. I was told the Americans would investigate me then release me. A soldier -
called my name only and I was put on a military airplane. It appears to me they made up.
the case against me. The Pakistani povernment is corrupt. [ believe they sold me. Twas .
taken to Kandahar, an area I’m not familiar with, I was there for about three days and an
investigation was done. After three days I was taken with three other individuals from

" the same group that came with me from Paldstan, We were transferred to another area, 1
* found out through the Red Cross it was Baghram. It tock about twelve hours to get there.
They interrogated me and one of the interrogators told me I was from al-Wafaand1
needed to confess to that. You have no choice. Itold them it wasn’t frue. They »
pressured me. They were whispered something then spoke to the guard. The guard came
. in, grabbed me by my neck and threw me. He took me in a bad way to isolation. Allmy
blankets, except one, were taken from me. It was freezing cold. They didn’t feed me
** lanch and sometimes they didn’t feed me twice. At night it is very cold and if you don’t
eat dinner it gets colder. This torture lasted fifieen to twenty days. My feet and hands
were swollen, ‘1 wasn’t able to stand because I was in so much paid, I asked for
 treatment and an interrogator brought a nurse and asked if I wanted treatment. They told

-me they could cut my legs o stop the pain. ‘They did this so I would confess to the
accusations that I didn’t do. Nothing happened. "After the torture ended, I met another

" interrogator who told me injustice was done to me and I didn’t have anything to dowith
this. He said he would do a report so { could go home. He told me I would be released.

_Suddenty, I was taken back to Kandahar and then to Cuba. The investigations and .
interrogations continue to this day and the accusation is still made against me. During the
time I was here, the interrogators have never accused me of being from al-Wafa, When ;
my Personal Representative gave me the Unclassified Summary I thought the accusa’uon
was cleared up until I saw it back on the paper. '

~ When I was in Pakistan, the Pakistanis told me I would likely travei back to my country

. They asked if T wanted to take my family with me back home. They even went to my |
family and asked if they wanted to go with me to our country. My father-in-law is here
and he is the one who told them that they asked my wife if she wanted to go back home
with me. From what he heard they were serious. What changed since then?

For example, if they found a phone and your calling list and that phone number belonged
to someone who was wanted by the authorities, would that be a crime against you? Does
that prove the person that received the call worked for the person calling? Just because
someone had a list with names and phone numbers it doesn’t prove they were part of that
- organization, especially after long interrogations. I think you know and have studied the
‘law. From where I sit, this isn’t proof that I am part of that argamzatmn (al-Wafa). Do
you have any other proof that shows I am part of al Wafa?

ISN #567
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Tribunal President: At this point we have the same information jbu have, your statement
and the same unclassified information. We may receive other information at a later time
that we wﬂl consxder

Detmnae' With me there'? -

. Tnbunai President: Probably without you here, 1f itis ciass1ﬁed We took an Oathito
promise to do our best to consider all information and based upon our 3udgment and the
laws and regulations, we w;H make a determmatlon

Detainee: If the mforma’non is-about me, I want to be there to defend mjself Maybe ﬂ_ae

| interrogators wrote something that I never said or maybe somethmg was translated
' mcorrectly

Tnbunal President: We understand.

i)etamee If there is proof somewhiere agamst me and T'm not there to testify, thereis -
_ somethmg missing if I can’t defend myself :

Tribunal President: I understand your concerss. Thxs is the procedure we are gomg
through 10 address all the mfonnatlon avmlable in your case.

Detamee God is well everythmg is (maudlble)

Summarmed Answers in Resganse to Questmns by the Trlbtmal Members. .

Q:  Howdid you know Detainee 005 was the al-Wafa Pres:dent‘? '

A: Smce 1 was brought here, all the mterrogatmns have been amund Abudula Azm
: and I was told he was from al-Wafa, Twas also asked if ] knewl:um

[Tnbunal President made the foliovnng comment rcgardmg a statement made by the
' _ Detainee.] L

Tribunal President: I would like to make it clear to you that I cannot force a mtness to
: attend your hearing. They must volunteer to come here.

Detainee: Maybe we can take the Detainee from his cell without telhng ‘him where he is
going and he can be brought in to the room with me, and my Personal Representative. .
My Personal Representative could ask him questions and hopeﬁﬂly he would reply.

& Tribunal Presadent I understand but the admnnstratwe process we have does not penmt
that

ISN #567 -
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~ [The Personal Representatwe presented additional evidence {D-b} from the Dehabshni’
website to the Tribunal and made the following comment. ]

Persoual Representanve: _This is information from the Dehabshiil’s website. It gives
some information about the company, what the company does, and it also shows there are
branches around the world, including the United States, It also gives a Due Diligence .
pohcy with regaa:ds fo money transfers post 11 September. -

Tnbunal Preszdent I wcmld ixke to ask the Detainee a quest:on about the Due Dlhgence
~ Policy. .

Summarrzed Answers in Resgo nse to Ouestwns bv the Tr:bunal Members

. @G Were you aware of the Due Diligence Policy after the 11 September attacks?

1A Tnbunal member explained due dlhgenca and the policy of the Dehabshiil Companjr )
to'the Translator (by reading from Exhibit D-b) to ensure an accurate translation. ] '

[Tribunal President changed his question to the following:]
Q:  Did you received training on “Know Your Customer” procedures?
A 'No, I never received the training. The orders usuailly came to me via the fax -
* machine, This must of happened while I was in prison. My work was very
simple my office was very small.
- Q: Do you remember the name of your supervisor?
" At The owner of the company Mdhamme& Said. _
- 'Pefsénal‘Repreéehtative - That information ison the first page of exh.ibit D-b.

Q: What was the name of your immediate superwsor, the person you reported and
- received payment for working?

A ' The President; but there Were other managers and their names are in that paper
(Ex D-b). Idon’t remember their names. The main office is in the nclghborhood
north of Somalia. I ca]lad dlrectly through the fax.

[The Tribunal was recessed to remove the Detainee from the room.]
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AUTHENTICATION

. I certxfy the matenai contained i in this transcnpt is a true a.nd accurate summary of the
testunony given durmg the proceadmgs
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'DETAINEE ELECTION FORM

- Date: 26 OCt 04 .
Start Time: 1500
End Time: 1545

| ISN#: 567

Personal Répreseﬁtaﬁve: EE N SRos MAJOR, USAF
(Name/Rank) T
' Translator Reqmred" YES . Laﬂguage" ARABIC

CSRT Procedure Read to Detaince or Written Copy Read by Detamee" NO

-_Detamee Electioi: |

) E E Wants -to Pa;ﬁéié:itg in Tribunal

L] Ai_‘firmatiy.e.ly Declines to Pé;'t'i_cipate in Tribunal
Nl . Uncooperative t;r Unresponsivé

Personal Representative Comments;
Detainee wants fo make an oral statement.

" Detainee ongmaliy requested three witnesses (005 568, 577), but has since vnthdrawn his request .
for 577 and 568. 003 refused to talk to the PR. '

Noté: This detainee actually went to a tribunal once before, which was recessed early in the

" proceedings because the detainee said he didn’t know he could call in-camp witnesses. The
tribunﬂ president recessed the tribunal and asked the PR o ge‘é the witness reguest from the
ﬁetahlee. This was done and 2 of the 3 witnesses were interviewed by'tﬁe PR. The third witness

. said he would not talk to the PR or anybody else. After reviewing the witnesses® comments

‘ regarding the detainee {567}, the detainee decided not to call thel_n for his tribunal.

Personal Representative;
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: Combafant Status Review ﬁoarti
: TO Tnbunal Members

FROM: OIC, CSRT (29 September 2094)

Subject: Summary of Evidence for Combatant Status Rev:ew Tnbunal BAR.RE Mohammed
Suiaymon :

1. Under the provisions of the Secretary of the Navy Memorandum, dated 29 July 2004, "

_ Inplementation of Combatant Status Review Tribunal Procedures for Enemy Combatants:

. Detained at Guantanaino Bay Naval Base Cuba, a Tribunal has been appomted to review the
detamee s designation as an enemy combatant. :

_ 2 An enemy com’batant has been defined as “an individual who was part of or supporting the - -

- Taliban or al Qaida forces, or associated forces that are engaged in hostilities against the United .
States or its coalition partners. This includes any person who committed a belligerent act or has -
directly supporied hostilities in aid of enemy armed forces.” -

3, The United States Govemment has prevxously determmed that the detamee is'an enemy
combatant, ‘This determination is based on information possessed by the United States that

. indicates that he supported forces engaged in hostilities agmust the United States and iis coahtlon
pariners. . .

The detainee suppoﬁed forces eugaged in hostllmes agamst the United States and its
‘coalition partners. : :

1. The deta:nee voluntanly moved from Somalia to Pakzstan in 1994

2. The detamee worked for the Dehabshiil Company in Karachl Pakistan,

'3, "The detmnce was identified as a member of the non-govennnentai orgamzatzon al
Wafa, w : :

4, Al Wafa is listed as a terrorist organizaﬁon on Executi‘fa Order 132_24.
) 4. The detainee has the opportumty to contest his designation as an enemy combatant The
Tribunal will endeavor to arrange for the presence of any reasonably available witnesses or

evidence that the detainee desires to call or introduce to prove that he is not an enemy combataut
The Tribunal President will determine the reasonable availability of evidence or witnesses.
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To @ Departmeﬁt of Defenae - Dm5_69/28{2004_
. Office of Administrative Review . -
for D :

Ttalned e - a6
Col. PR uSN :

. an.! : L FRI GTMO '
. Counterterrgrism Divisiop
CAsst. Gen. D e

subject REQUEST FOR REDACTION OF
©© NATIONAL SECURITY INFORMATION
ocss7h -

Pursuant to the Sdcretary of the Navy Order of 29 July.

" 2004, Implementation &f Combatant Review Tribunal Procedures for

Enemy Combatants Detained at Guantanamo Bay Naval Base, Cuba,.

Sectlion D, paragraph 2, the FBI requests redaction of the

1nformatlon herein maz:ked1 - The FBI nmakes this requiest on the -
"basis thab said information relates to the national security of

the United States®. Inappropriate dissemination of said
~information could damage the national security of the United
Btates and compromise ongomng FBI 1nvestlgatmons

CERTIFICATION THAT REDACTED INFORMATION DOES NOT SUPPORT A -
DETERMINATION THAT.THE DETAINEEZ IS NOT AN ENEMY COMBATANT

. The FBI certifies the aforementionéd redaction containg
no information that would support a determ;natlon that the
detainee is not an enemy combatant. :

The follow;ng documents relative to ISN.567 have been .
redaﬁted by the FBI and prov1ded ta the OARDEC-

FD-302. dated 05/22/2002
FD-302 dated 12/17/2002

‘Redactions are hlackened out on the OARDEC’ provided Fax
document.

-, %8ee Executive Order 12958
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23 September 2001

-Executlve Order

- Biockmg Property and Prohlbltmg Transactmns With Persons Who Commxt
Threaten to Comlmt or Support Terronsm

By the authomy vested in me as President by the Constitution and the Jaws of the United -
‘States of America, including the International Emergency Economic Powers Act (50
U.S.C. 1701 et seq.)(IEEPA), the National Emergencies Act (50 U.S.C. 1601 et seq.),
section 5 of the United Nations Participation Act of 1945, as amended (22 U.8.C, 287c)

- (UNPA), and section 301 of title 3, United States Code, and in view of United Nations
Security Council Resolution (UNSCR) 1214 of December 8, 1998, UNSCR 1267 of
October 15, 1999, UNSCR 1333 of December 19, 2000, and the multilateral sanctions

_contained therein, and UNSCR 1363 of July 30, 2001, estabhshmg a mechanism to
momtor the xmplemcn’eatmn of UNSCR 1333

I GEORGE W. BUSH, President of the Umted States of Amenca, find that grave acts of ‘
terrorism and thireats of terrorism committed by foreign terrorists, including the terrorist
attacks in New York, Pennsylvania, and the Pentagon committed on September 11, 2001,
acts recognized and condemned in UNSCR 1368 of September 12,2001, and UNSCR

© 1269 of October 19, 1999, and the continting and immediate threat of further attackson
United States nationals or.the Umtg:d States constitute an unusual and extraordinary threat
to the national security, foreign policy, and economy of the United States, andin -
furtherance of my proclamation of September 14,-2001, Declaration of National
Emergency by Reason of Certain Terrorist Attacks hereby declare a nahonal emergency
{o deal with that threat

also find that because of the pervasiveness and éxpansivenass of the financial
foundation of foreign terrorists, financial sanctions may be appropriate for those foreign
persons that support or other\hnse assomate wﬂh these foreign terronsts

I also find that a rieed exists for further consultation and cooperation vmh and sharing of
information by, United States and foreign financial institutions as an additional toolto -
enable the Umted States to combat the financing of terrorism. '

1 hereby order:

Section 1. Except to the extent required by section 203(b) of IEEPA (50 U.S.C.
1702(b)), or provided in regulations, orders, directives, or licenses that may be

~ issued pursuant to this order, and notwithstanding any contract entered into or any
license or permit granted prior to the effective date of this order, all property and
interests in property of the following persons that are in the United States or that
hereafter come within the United States, or that hereafter come w1tb1n the
possessmn or control of Umted States persons are blocked: -

. ' : . 000025 totb
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(a) foreign persons listed in the Annex to this orders & .

(b) foreign persons determined by the Secretary of State, in consultation. -
_ -with the Secretary of the Treasury and the Attorney General, to have
. committed, or to pose a significant risk of committing, acts of terrorism
that threaten the security of U.S. nationals or the national security, fore1gn
policy, or economy of the United States;

(c) persons determined by the Secretary of the Treasury, in consultation

- with the Secretary of State and the Attorney General, to be owned or
controlled by, or to act for or on behalf of those persons listed inthe
Annex fo this order or those persons determined to be subgect to
subsectlon 1(b), 1(c), or 1{(d){i) of thls order,

(d) except as provided in sectlon 50f tms order and after such |
consultation, if any, with foreign authorities as the Secretary. of State, in
consultation with the Secretary of the Treasury and the Attorney General,
deems appropriate in the exercise of his discretion, persons determined by
the Secretary of the Treasury, in consultation with the Secretary of State

" and the Attorney General;

(1) to assist in, sponsor, or provxde ﬁnanmal material, or ,
- technological support for, or financial or other services to or in
support of, such acts of terrorism or those persons listed in the
Annex to this order or determined to be subject to this order or

(ii) to be othemse assomated with those persons Ilsted in the
Annex to this order or those persons determined to be su‘bject to’
subsection’ l(b), 1{c), or 1{d){i) of this order.

- Sec. 2. Except to the extent required by section 203(b) of IEEPA (50 U.S.C.

* 1702(b)), or provided in regulations, orders, directives, or licenses that may be

-issued pursuarit to this order, and notwithstanding any contract entered into or any

hcmse or permit granted prior to the effective date: .
(2) any transaction or dealing by United States persons or within the
United States in property or interests in property blocked pursuant to this
order is prohibited, including but not limited to the making or receiving of
any contribution of funds, goods, or services to or for the benefit of those
persons listed in the Annex to this order or determined to be subject to this
order; .

(b) any transaction by any United States person or within the United States

~ that evades or avoids; or has the purpose of evading or avoiding, or-
attempts to violate, any of the prohibitions set forth in this order is
proh:bxted and :

000027 -
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(c) auy conspzracy formed to violate any of the prohxbmons set forth in
this order is prohibited.

Sec. 3. For purposes of this order: | i
(2) the term "person*~ Meanst mdlvldual or*’ennti S

(b) the term "entlty" means a partnershp, assOciation, corporaton or
other orgamzatlon, group, or subgroup, , :

(c) the term "United States person” means any United States éitizen,
permanent resident alien, entity organized under the laws of the United -
 States (including forexgn b:anches) Or, anty person in the United States;

(B) to mﬂmn{:q thepi

or:coercion; or

(C) to affelEihs; conduq iy
destrucuen, assassination; kadn

~ Sec. 4. I hereby determiné that the making of donations of the type spec;ﬁed in
section 203(b)(2) of IEEPA (50 U.S.C. 1702(b)(2)) by United States persons fo .
persons determined to be subject to this order would seriously impair my ability
to déal with the national emergency declared in this order, and would endanger .

*'Armed Forces of the United States that are in a situation where imminent
involvement in hostilities is clearly indicated by the circumstances; and hereby
prohibit such donations as provzded by sectmn 1 of this order '

Furthermore I hereby determine that the Trade Sanctions Reform and Export
Enhancement Act of 2000 (title IX, Public Law 106-387) shall not affect the
imposition or the continuation of the imposition of any unilateral agricultural
sanction or unilateral medical sanction on any person determined to be subject to
this order because imminent involvement of the Armed Forces of the Umted
States in hostilities is clearly indicated by the circumstances.

Sec. 5. W1th respect to those persons des1gnated pursuant to subsection 1(d) of
this order the Secretary of the Treasury, in the exercise of his discretion and in

| L 000028
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c'oxisultaﬁon with the Secretary of State and the Attorney General‘,' may take such
other actions than the complete blocking of property or interests in property as the

" President is authorized 1o take under IEEPA and UNPA if the Secretary of the

Treasury, in consultation with the Secretary of State and the Attorney General,

" deems such other actions to be consistent with the national interests of the United -
' States, cons:denng such factors as he deems appropriate.

Sec. 6. The Secretary of State the Secretary of the Treasury, and other °
appropriate agencies shall make all relevant efforts to cooperate and coordinate
with other countries, including through technical assistance, as well as bilateral
and multilateral agreements and arrangements, to achieve the objectives of this
order, including the prevention and suppression of acts of terrorism, the denial of
financing and financial services to.terrorists and terrorist ergamzatmns, and the
sharmg of mtelhgence about fundmg activities in support of terrorism.

Sec. 7. The Secretary of the Treasury, in consultauon with the Secretary of State
and the Attorney General, is hereby authorized to take such actions, including the
promulgation of rules and regulations, and to employ all powers granted to the

- President by IEEPA and UNPA as may be necessary to carry out the purposes of’

this order.

. The Secretary of the Treasury may redeiegate any of these functions to other

oﬂicers and agenmes of the United States Govemment

All agencles of the United States Govcmmeut are hereby dlrected to take aIl

appropriate measures within theu' authority to carTy out the prows:ons of this
order,

: Seé. 8. Nothing in this order is intended to afféct the continied effectiveness of

any rules, regulations, orders, licenses, or other forms of administrative action

: . issued, taken, or continued in effect heretofore or hereafter under 31 C.F.R. .
- chapter V, except as expressly termmated modlﬁed or suspended by or pursuant

to this order.

-Sec. 9. Noﬂung contained in this order is intended to create, nor does it create,
. any right, benefit, or privilege, substantive or procedural, enforceable at law by a

party against the United States, its agencies, officers, employees or any other
person.

See. 10. For those persons listed iu the Annex to this order or determined to be

. subject to this order who might have a constitutional presence in the United
. States, I find that because of the ability to transfer funds or assets instantaneously,

prior notice to such persons of measures to be taken pursuant to this order would
render these measures ineffectual. I therefore determine that for these measures to
be effective in addressing the national emergency declared in this order, there
need be no prior notice of a hstmg or determmaﬁon made pursuant to thls orcier

S 000029
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(a) Tl’llS order is effectxve at 12:01 a.m. eastern dayhght timhe on
Septembex 24,2001. '

{b) This order shall be transmxﬁed fo the Ccngress and pubhshed in the
Federal Reglster

. GEORGE W. BUSH |
~ THE WHITE HOUSE,
September 23, 2001
ANNEX .
Al Qaiaafislamic Amy .
- Ai;u '—Sayyaf Gmup |
- Armed Islmja_lic'Group' (Gl1a) |
' Harakat ul-Mujahidin HUM)
Al-Jihad (Egyptian ‘I_slamic' Jihad) |
.Islf_:mic Mo.\rezz‘)én.t of Uzbekistan (IMU)
Asbat al-Ansar | |
Salafist Group for Call and Combat (GSPC) |
| Libyan Islamic Fighting Group .
Al-Ttihaad ab-Islamiya (AIA) -
Islamic Army of Adbeﬁ‘ -
| ﬁséma bin Laden ,
Muhammad A:if(aka, Subhi Abu Sitte, Abu Hafs Al Masri)
. Sayf al-Adl . |
Shaykh Sai' 1d (aka, Mustafa Muhammad Ahmad)

Abu Hafis the Mauritanian (aka, Mahfouz Ould al-Walid, Khalid Al-Shagqiti) -

UNCLASSIFIED
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-Ibz"l AI-Sh@k’h Al Libi |
Abu Zubaydah (ska, Zayn al-Abidin Muhammod Husays, Tariq)
Abd al-Hadi al-Iragi (aka, Abu Abdallah) R
Ayman al-Zawahiri - | |
Thirwat_ Salah Shihata B | _ |
' Tariq Anwar al-Sayyid Ahmad (ska, Fathi, Amr ol Fatii)
Muﬂazﬁmad.:Sa}ah taka, Nasr F;cmmi‘Nasr Hasanayﬁ) |
Makhtab Al'Khidamat/Al Kifah |

——
o P el

| Al Rashid Trust

" Mamoun Parkazanli Impprt—Expoit Compahy
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Personal Representative Review of the Record of Proceedings.

) vembe -
I acknowledge that on _—Betober 2004 1 was provzded the opportunity to review the
‘record of proceedings for the Combatant Status Review Tribunal involving ISN #567.

" : " ' " . ' v .
) o JA!VE no comments.
My comments are attached.

Z/z/a/Zzﬁo?

Name . , Date

ISN #567
" Enclosure (5)

“UNCLASSIFIE—,DIM - o 000075




Case 1:08-cv-01153-HHK  Document1l  Filed 07/01/2008 Page 94 of 113

Exhibit 2



Case 1:08-cv-01153-HHK  Document1  Filed 07/01/2008 Page 95 of 113

UNCLASSIFIED

Department of Defense
Office for the Administrative Review of the Detention of Enemy
Combatants at US Naval Base Guantanamo Bay, Cuba

22 Septernber 2005
TO: BARRE, MOHAMMED SULAYMON

SUBJECT:  UNCLASSIFIED SUMMARY OF EVIDENCE FOR ADMINISTRATIVE
REVIEW BOARD IN THE CASE OF BARRE, MOHAMMED SULAYMON

1. An Administrative Review Board will be convened to review your case to determine if your
continued detention is necessary.

2. The Administrative Review Board will conduct a comprehensive review of all reasonably
available and relevant information regarding your case. At the conclusion of this review the
Board will make a recommendation to: (1) release you to your home state; (2) transfer you to
your home state, with conditions agreed upon by the United States and your home state; or (3)
continue your detention under United States control.

3.- The following primary factors favor continved detention:
a. Connections/Associations
1. The detainee worked for the Dahabshiil Company in Karachi, Pakistan,
: 2. Dahabshiil is closely related to Al-Barakaat, a Somali financiai company designated by
the U.S. Government as a terrorism finance facilitator. Following Al-Barakaat's designation and
shutdown, Dahabshiil took over much of Al-Barakaat's business,

3. The detainee was identified as a member of the non-governmental organization al
Wafa.

4. The al Wafa organization has been identified as a terrorist organization on the U.S,
State Department's Terrorist Exclusion List.

5. The non-governmental organization al Wafa reportedly was believed to have had
connections to Usama Bin Laden and Afghan Mujahidin.

6. The detainee received a Tablighi Jamiat Visa to Pakistan.

7. Jama'at Al Tablighi, a Pakistan based Islamic missionary organization that is being
used as a cover to mask fravel and activities of terrorists, 1o include members of al Qaida.

b. Other Relevant Data

1. The detainee ran an illegal money transfer business out of his home.

UNCLASSIFIED
DMO Exhibit &
Page 1 of 2
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SUBJECT: UNCLASSIFIED SUMMARY OF EVIDENCE FOR ADMINISTRATIVE
REVIEW BOARD IN THE CASE OF BARRE, MOBAMMED
SULAYMON

2. Some of the detainee's counterparts in the United States did not have licenses. They
were operating illegally, also out of their houses. In addition, there was reason o believe that the
detainee had contact with people involved in the support network for al Qaida.

3. The detainee lied to obtain his three-month Pakistani Visa.

4. The detainee was captured after the Pakistani authorities had conducted three raids on
his home and finally detained him for illegal money transfers.

4, The following primary factors favor release or transfer:

a. The detainee stated he was never involved in an Islamic Militant group or knowingly
transferred funds for their cause.

b. The detainee, during his oral CSRT statement, stated that he had no knowledge of al Wafa
until he entered prison in Pakistan.

5. You will be afforded a meaningful opportunity to be heard and to present information to the
Board; this includes an opportunity to be physically present at the proceeding. The Assisting
Military Officer (AMO) will assist you in reviewing all relevant and reasonably available
unclassified information regarding your case. The AMO is not an advocate for or against -
continued detention, nor may the AMO form a confidential relationship with you or represent
you in any other matter.

UNCLASSIFIED
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The Administrative Review Board was called to onder.
The Designated Military Officer (DMO) was sworn,
The Bogrd Reporter was sworn.

Tke Transiotor was sworn.
The Detainge entered the proceedingr.

The Presiding Officer annosnced the convening authority and purpose of the
- Administrative Review Board procecdings.

The Administrative Review Board members were sworn.
The Assisting Military Officer was sworn.

The Presiding Officer asked the I}miuce if he wishes to make a statement under oath.
(Mustim oath offered).

The Detainee accepted toking the (Muslim) oath.

The Presiding Officer read the hearing instructions to the Detainee and confirmed that
ke understood,

The Assisting Military Officer presented the Enemsy Combatant Notification form,
Exhibit EC-A, to the Administrative Review Board,

The Assisting Military Officer presented the £nemy Combatant Election Form, Exhibit
EC-B, to the Administrative Review Board,

The Designated Military Officer presented the Unclassified Summary of Evidence,
Exhibit DMO-1, (end DMO-2 to DMO-3, other smclass information) to the
Addmintvirative Review Bowrd,

The Designated Military Officer stated thet a copy of these exhibits had been
previously distributed to the Assisting Military Officer and Detainee.

The Presiding Officer noted from the Eneny Combatent Election Form that the
detuinee wanted to respond to each item of Information from the Unclassified
Summary as it was presented,

1SN 567

- | Enclosure {5)
. Page 1 of 13
20640 UNCLASSIFIED#




Case 1:08-cv-01153-HHK  Document1l  Filed 07/01/2008 Page 99 of 113

UNCLASSIHEDI%
(Revigad 30 SEP 05)

The Designated Military Officer gave a brief description of the contents _trf the
Unclassified Summary of Evidence, Exkibit DMO-1, to the Review
Board,

Designated Military Officer: The detainee worked for the Debebshifl Company in
Karachi, Pakistan.

Detainee: Correct, I worked with Dahabshiil and ¥ was their agent Xarachi, Pakistan and
you know that Dahabshii) Company has many branches in meny countries that have a
Somalian cosamunity; inoluding the United States, the gulf countries, Europe, African
couniries, Austrelia, and also Pakistan. The Pakistani branch was one of those offices.
All of those offices fall directly under the main department based in Somalia. If work in
Dahabshiil formed an accusation, [then] their places would not be open with you in the

 couptries | mentioned before. Dahabshill has & page on the internst website, You may
have enough information that attests its integrity as well. This will prove itg distance
from terror and some of its customers are internstional organizstions liks “Save the
Childrer”. The Dahsbshiil website is www.dakgbshifl.com .

Dresignated Military Officer: Dahabshiil is closely related to Al-Barakat, 2 Somali
financial company designated by the United States Government as 8 tenorism firance
facilitator, Following Al-Beraknat’s designation and shutdown, Dehabshiil took over
much of Al-Barakaat's busingss.

Detainee: 1 did not know mything sbout this before, All T know is that Dahabshiil
Company is [a] frec-lancer or independent company owned by & known businessman and
its main office is in Herikesa, Somalia. Ireceived instructions from this offics and 1 did
not hear from thern. .. that they have any cornection(s] to other organizations, but
generally these issues you can discuss with the ownex of the company. If this company
has any association with companices suspected of terror [then] some of their offices would
not be left open and warking while some others were closed. This shows something, It
shows that it hes clean pages.

' Designated Military Officer: The detaince was identified es a member of the non-
governmentsl organization al Wafz.

Detainee: Nottrue. 1was never ons day a member of this organizetion and I did not hear
- of [i1]) until entering the jail i Pakistan from a Pakistani interrogator officer. I spoke of
this at the first tribunal that this accusation is not trus, 1 requested from them fo bring the
company dircctor or menager that is detained here by you fso] he could testify [to] the
truth in front of the tribunal, The reply was that the tribunat president refused this request
and is not allowing this person to attend this tribual, Ido not know how you want me to
prove o you my innocence from this accusation that was built upon phone numbers
found in my pbone memorandun, Based upon my job that I wotked, I received many
phone calls from people I know and from people I do not know. It wasn’t necessary or
mquimdtomtoknowunthephnnenumbarsiimdinthememomdm Dazhebshiil
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Company is not a secret or underground company. It is on the alr direetly in the internet
and any person who has the company address can contact any agent from the company
from any country in the world. You also know that I was arrested from my house whers
it was my workstation, Also, information soutces that were with me were confiscated
like the computer, files, and nofcbooks, which provided all the information about my job
and they did not find anything that would show association with the copany you
mentioned, Just phone numbers in the phone book memorandum. Is this enough to
direct an accusation? Ii's something strange.

Designated Military Officer: The al Wafa organization has been identified as a terrorist
organization on the United States’ State Department’s Terrodst Exclusion list.

Detainee: This hag nothing to do with me.

Designated Military Officer; The non-governinental organization el Wafa rgportedly was
beiieved fo have had connections to Usama Bin Laden and Afghan Mujahidin.

Detainee: This has nothing to do with me. This does not concern me.
Designated Military Officer: The detainee received a Tablighi Jamiat Visa to Pakistan.

Detainee: Like the rest of the Somalians, the wars exited the Somalians from their
country, I was looking for any refuge [so] 1 can live in safety, but [ wasn’t lucky, 1
wanted to live in countries where people desire to live, where jobs are availeble; such as
Europe, America, Australia, and the Gulf Countries. Though 1had 1o leave to somewhere
so | proceeded toward India and 1 heard that in Pakistan there was a United Nation office
receiving Somalians and giving them lmmigration passes for a period of time and they
could also migrate to other better countries that has better living conditions than Pakistan.
The office was the best office in the area so I decided to travel to Pakistan. So, I asked
the Somalians who were there how I could go to Pakistan and they told me to go the
Pakistani Embessy and tell them that | was going to Pakistan for missionary [work] and
they will give you the vise, I yon ¢an’t find another way because you have a Somalisn
passport and they don’t have a country. I did what they told me and I entered Pakistan
and later fwent] to thes United Nation office. 1t’s worth mentioning] that this type of visa
is known by the Pakistani government. 1t’s not against the law and [ have taken this type
of Visa before, more than ten years ago.

Designated Military Officer; Jama’at Al Tablighi, a Pakistan based Islamic missionary
organization that is being used as a cover to mask travel aud activities of terrorists, to
include members of al Qaida.

Detainee: Ido not bave any knowledge of these things.

Designated Military Officer: The detaince ran an iflegel money transfer business out of
hi¢ home.
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Detainee: The business job T worked in was very small and there were no licenscs for
this kind of business within the Pakistani government and this job of mine was in the
middls of the Somalian residents living in Pakistan.

Designated Military Officer: Some of the detainee’s counterparts in the United S.t:lm did
not have licenses, They were aperating illegslly, also out of their houses. In addition,
there was reason 1o believe that the detainee had contact with people involved in the
support netwark for al Qaida.

Detaines: If there are people violatiog the law of the United States {you] have 1o take all
the appropriate measures, but what I know is that Dahabshiil company has many
locations/places in the United States and they have permission [to] work ot in the apen.
You arc saying that [ have connectionfs] with the terrorist, so what is the reason {or] ]
cause? 1t would be clear to [you] sverything sbout my pereonal metter and I worked with
the Dahabshiil just like the rest of the employees that worked with them. 8o where is the
teyror and where is my connection with them? Terror is what depeted me from my
country and I am one of the people who hates terror most.

Designated Military Officer: The detaine lied to obtein his three-month Pekistani visa.

Detainee: This point is connected to number six and 1 did not do this, but the awccssity of
basic human needs and you know that many refugees that entered [the] United States,
they entered illegally, but dus to their special situation, {the] United States and other
cotntries received them, Today they prosper with official residential documentation or
even received the citizenship.

Designated Military Officer: The detainec was captured after the Pakistani authorities
bad conducted three raids on his home and finaily detsined him for illegel movey
trangfer, .

Detainee: These weten't raids. They were just routine visits by the special police end the
Intelligence. They wanted to check my identification and my papers. These visits .
repeated three times, somewhat distant from each other. They took pictures or copies of
my imrigration paperfpass from the United Nation and after a time period, they came to
my house and arrested me. [They] told me they wanted to check some metters and [that]
1 would be released soon. After four months, they handed me over to the United States
Forces.

Designated Military Officer: The following primary factars faver release or transfer.
The detainee stated he was never involved in an Islamic Militant group or knowingly
transferred funds for their cause.

Detainee; Ihave never knoWy or not knowingly transferred funds to anyone. Tonly
received money for the poor Somalian people.
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Designated Military Officer: 'The detainse, during bis oral Combatant Status Review
Tribunal statement, stated that he had no knowledge of al Wafl until he entered prison in
Pakistan, :

Detainse: Correct statement. The first time I heard of it is from the Pakistani officer.

The Designated Military Offficer confirmed that ke kad no further aucﬁuss{ﬂad :
information and requested a closed session to present classified information relevant to
the disposition of the Detainee.

The Prestding Officer acknowledged ike request,

The Presiding Officer opened the Administrative Review Board to the Detainee to
present information with the assistance of the Assisting Mititary Officer.

Detaines; Based on what was mentioned before and my innocence from these
gecusations, T do not deserve to stay detained [for] af this time. A lot of interrogators
said to me that through this war that wus lead by the United States, a lot of mistakes were
made and they must be corrected. They told me many times {that] I am here by mistake.
1think you came here to correct these mistakes and I have cooperated with the
mmmduﬁmgmmisﬁmemdldidmm&mcwmlkﬁkemmydmkmswhe
were frustrated from the long interrogation. I was aiways tefling the tnith, Like 110l
[you] before that T left my country because of civil wars and I would like to live in a safe
place...with my family meking a living.

Presiding Officer: Does this conclude your statement?

Detainee: Yes. :

The Assisting Military Officer stated that ke had no additional comments,
The Assisting Mititary Officer had no further questions jfor the Deluinee,
The Designated Military Officer had no further questions for the Detaince.
Administrative Review Board Member's questions:

Board Member; the Company that you warked for, did you ever inquire into what the
purpose of the money was going to be?

Deteines: No.
Board Member: Did you just give money to people who asked for it without a purpose?
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Detainee: Like I mentioned before, the office was open to the Somalian gommunity who
wete living there. They would receive money from their relatives or family to help them
live there.

Board Member: Did you ever provide money to anybody that was outside the Somalisn
community?

Detainee: Very, very marely because it has an irdernet site and was very well known,

Sometimes the college stadents who were there, a few Somalian or Pakistani students.
Those cases,

Board Member: You compared the company you work for with the “Save the Children”
organizetion. Was this just a humanitarien aid? Is that what they provided?

Detainee: It was not [a) comparison, In the tibunal, my personal representative went on
the internet and printed out the website and some of the customers of the Dehabshiil

Company were “Save the Children”, That was an exampie of the customers of that
company.

Board Member: When your home was raided you said that they were checking your
identification and your papers, When they came back again did you suspect that they
thought you were doing aom;ﬂ:ing illegal? -
Detainee: 1 suspected them, but then if [ knew I was Jgoing to] et arrested 1 would [have
lef] the place, but because it was & company [where] money was transferred I thought
toaybe it was a routine for them to come and check. Otherwise, if I knew Iwas going to
get arrested I would have Jeft.
Board Member: Do you speak English?
Detainee: A livle bit.
Board Member: Did you Jeam Enplish in Somalia?

- Detainee: Yes.
Board Member: This was a hawalal that you had? l
Detainee: Yt was 2 money transfer,
Board Member: How old are you?
Detainee: 1 was born at the end of 1965,

Board Member: Did you receive any education in Somefia?
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Detainee: Yes,
Board Member: What education Jevel did you reach?
Detainee: A Bachelc;rs Degree in Agricuiture.
Board Member: Did you work with this banking institution in Somalia?
Detainee: No.

Board Member: You are familiar with the process of transferring funds, Were you
famitiar with that in Somalia? Is it very commonty used there?

Detaiuee; After the government of Somalia felt, then I had to look for some other way to
raake a living, 2 clean way to make e living. This was not my major; it was not my 1
specialty, 1 had to find a clean way to make a Hving.

Board Member: Where did you go afier Somalia? Pakistan?
Detainee: No, I went to India.

Board Member: Then you went to Pakistan after India?
Detainee: Yes,

Board Member: You had mentioned that you kad a traveled on a visa ten years prior to
when you went to Pakistan, Wh«edidyoguweimat&mtpoint?

Detaines: Inok it from the Pakistani Embassy in India,
Board Member: How [ong were you in Pakistan?

Detainee: I have been here since 2005 and my movement was 1994 to India and
Pakistan,

Board Member: This bushaeés was operated out of your bome?

Detainee: Yes.,

Board Member: Did you generally have the same customers that came for money
transfers?

Detainee: Yes. The office usually opened in a Somalian community, ‘There was a small
Snmﬂimmmmunity&min?nﬁstmwhmmutoﬁwmedformmnwdstogn
there to have their family send them money and 50 on. It was in 2 community where the
Somelians were living.
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Board Member: Tt was out of your horae, is that corrent‘? EA
Detsinee: My workstation?

Board Member: Yes.

Detaince: Yes, my house,

Board Member: When there was a transfer, did they comemyowhomormu!dthey
contact you by phone?

Detainee: Sometimes they bad my phone rumber they would cafl me then they would
ccmeortheywouldcallmeand 1 would meet them and we would make sure there was
no problem.

Board Member: ‘What bank did you use to keep the funds?
Detainee: X did not work with benks. The monsy was in my house.

Board Member: Did yon do any large financial transactions? What was the largest
financial transaction?

Detalnee: It was usually recelving money. The most I remember was sbout $20,000.
Board Member: Pekistani rupees or US dollars? '
Deteinee: American dollars,

Boatd Member: You kept that much monsy in your house st one tme?

Detaines: I{ never stayed there for 2 long time. I would get faxed from the company the
amount of money and the customers would pet the information and would come o me
and [say] this is the amount of money I am receiving.

Board Member: Did you do any swaps? Did you exchange money for anything other
than money?

Detainee: No.

Board Member: You were in Pakistan in 1994, you're educated, and you are obviously
very smart. Did you see what was going on in Pakistan?

Detainee: [ use to hear it on the news just like I heard the news about the wars in my
country that I Jeft.

Board Member: Did you know about Usama Bin Laden?
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Detaince: I haven’t seen the Taliban, | have never entered Afghanistan. The whole
world heard the news that [was] brosdeasting. The only information that I have, I was
getting from the news that I was waiching.

Board Member: Did you know about al Quida?
Detainee: I didn’t know anything. Sometimes [it was] gn the news. -
Board Member: Were you over suspicious about the monsy tranafers that you bad?
_ Detainee: No, never, |

Board Member: Wexe you ever suspisious about any of the sums of money that you
{fransferred?

Detainee: No, Not one thing was susplicious], The money that came (o me was [a]
very small amount, very simple money for the Somnlians that was receiving [it]. 1never
suspected because it was [a) very small emount of money.

Board Member: I want to make sure that never once were you ever suspicious about any
trangfer?

Detainee: 1had sameone call me a Somalian and came to me and said [they] want to
transfer money... T didn’t have any orders from my compsny, any procedures that 1 had
to check to suspect anything. [ didn’t have that.

Board Member: No paper trail, You never kept records.
Detainee: chordéhow?
Board Member: Of transfiers?

Detainee; There were records of the fax, The faxes sald the time and date, the amount of
money which company was sent, the address where it went. The other persons on the
other siie receiving it had to keep the same records.

Bosrd Member: Were all of your transfers from Somalia?

Detainee: The main department or orders came from Somalia. There was no direct
connection to me and other offices in the rest of the world, My orders came directly
[from] the main department in Somalia. : i

Boand Member: All of your transfers went to Somalians?

Detaines: Yes, thatishowitwas.
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Board Member; How did they know sbout your business? By word of mouth?

Detainoe: Like I said, my address, my name, sy phone number, everything was on the
website. Everything was there for people to see,

Board Member: Were you making a good lving?
Detainee: ¥t wasn't what you think [of] & way of living, because the customess, the

people I work with were very, very few. [There] were very few transfers. My situation
kind of forced me to work this kind of job.

Board Member: How many transfers were there a day or a month or & week or a year?

Detaines: F've been here four years, but if you want the information, all the files
everything I have, the computer, the phone books were taken from me. You haveit. You
can go back and get them,

Presiding Officer: We're just asking for a rough estimate of how raany transfers you did
on a daily or weekly basis, -

Detainee: It wes not & money wansfer. It was to receive. It was not a transfer. Inthe
beginning sometimes this would go and I would not even have one person [then] later

" day by day 1 would ses one person a day and later on they got more; maybe two peoplea
day. The day that I was detained I bave about four to five people, but they were receiving
a very small amount of monsy.

Board Member: 1would like to talk about Jama’at Al Tablighi. Were you s memberora
missionsry or a part of Jamaat Al Tablighi?

Detainee: No.

Board Member: You just used that to get your viss?

Detsines: When [ went to the Embassy and they gavemetbzvisaandﬂ:eplacewlm it
says purpose of the visa I put missionary. - I didn’t know anything sbout Tablighi or
anything. They looked at it and said missionary, okay,

Board Mgmher: Did you cver visit the Jama'at Al Tablighi center in Lahore, Pakistan?
Detaim: T've heard, but have never gone there.

Board Member; Were you a member of any NG{}, non~governmental organization?
Detainee: Never. |

Board Member: Did you ever give any alms 1o any organization?

I8N 567
Enclosure (5}

' | X Page 10 of 13
20849 | UNCLASSIHEDW'




Case 1:08-cv-01153-HHK  Document1l  Filed 07/01/2008 Page 108 of 113

UNCLASSIFIED/

’ (Revised 30 SEP 05)
Detginee: Never.

Board Membet: Did you ever travel with any organization?

Detainee: Never.

Board Member: Did you know anybody who was a member of thess mgamzanons‘?
Detainee: I do not know,

Board Member: So you don't know if you transferred any money between these
orpanizations?

Detsinee: Like I mentioned before, hsﬁsammnngafﬁm It was not to transfer, but
if someone came and told me they want to transfer, they usually mention the name of the
person. They don’t mention,..the name of the organization,

Board Mermber: You didn’t know all of your customers?
Detaines: Not personel[lv].

Board Member: You don’t know if somebody came to you who might have besn a
member of al Qaids, si Wafa, or Jama’at Al Tablighi, or another organization. You
wouldn't Jmow if they came to you?

Detainee: Like I said, the first time I heard of that was here. Let’s say for example o
person goes to the heak and wants to transfer some money somewhere else, of coutse you
are not going to kuow that person. That person could be [a] bad person, you would not

. know what kind of parson be is.

Board Mieraber: Hawalals are gli over, is that right?
Detainse: In the places where there was a Somalian community and Somalizn people.
Board Member: Why did they come fo you? Why were you arrested?

Detainee: Ido not know. Youaredzrecungﬂnsqucshona:thewrongperson [donot
know why I was arrested. When they came to me they arrested me (1 was arrested for
four months before I was tamed over to Americen forees), they told me I had phone
nurgbers in my booklet that (bekong to] bad people and they wanted to be sare what
happened and then [that] 1 would be released.

Boatd Member: Did you have problems with the police, Pakistan, Somalia? Did you
have any problems with anyone prior to this?

Detainee: Never. Nope I did not.
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Presiding Officer: 1am convinced that your branch of the Dehabshiil Company was used
to transfer moncy for terrotism,

Detaines: How? What is your evidence?

Presiding Officer: 1 befieve that your company was used in that way, My question is did
youknow it or pot? That is what we are trying to answer today. In the Somali
community in Karachi did you evér hear of any support for al Qaida or the Taliben?

Detainee: Open your ¢ars very well and hear me out. 'When I say Somalian community
-in Pakistan, I don’t mean all the Somalis together and they have a leader and they know
who is what, doing what. T mean people who are scattered everywhero, the students and
the workers who are working all over the place.

Presiding Officer: I understand that they are afl over the place, but I assume that you
Hived with end knew any of these people that were Somali and clearly they used you to
receive money from different places, Did you hear nruch about al Qaida or Taliban?

Detainee: Never. Idid not hear,
Presiding Officer: What year did you move to Pakistan?
Detainee: 1904, |

Presiding Officer: In those nins years yon were there before you were picked up by the
Pakistani police you didn’t hear much at all sbout al Qeida or Taliban?

Detainee: What do you mean by hear?
Presiding Officer: What I am trying to find out is if you think maybe thers were some
people that were using your company and using your branch to transfer money or

whether you were just totalty not paying atiention to who they were or if you knew that
" perhaps some of these people were using your company to transfer money for al Qaida.

Detsinee: Like I said befors, the office was open to students. Ido not know what was in
people’s hearts when they came to me. They came fo me and asked did they receive this
money yet. My job was only to tell them yes it is here or it is not heze.

Presiding Officer: You never heard of al Wafa?
Detainee: I've mentioned it before I heard if from the Pakistani intesrogator officer when

I first entered the jail there,
Presiding Officer: ‘Where if we decide to release you or transfer you, do you want to go
back to Pakistan or go back to Somalia?
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Detainee; Hionestly, as you know Pakistan is not my country and every person in their
owqhaapw:?lwmthgobackh&shmwm&ymd&aoniymsmlwthmm
the immigration office. T was there as a refugee, I filed for immigration to go
somewhere else, but [ would love to go to my couatey.if my country is stable and has a
government and is eaf to go to. 1have been here four years and I .don’t know any thing
[that] has been happening in Somalia right now. If the country is stable and it is okay for
me 1o go there I would rather go to my own country and if my country is not stable I
would seek refuge or immigrate to another conntry that is safe.

Presiding Offiver: Where is your family?

Detaines: My family, I was taken from them in the middle of a very dark night and from
that day I don’t know {anyjthing about my family. They were in Pakistan,

Presiding Officer: You haven't heard from them at all?

Detainse: My wife's father was arrested. He told me thet she has moved in with them.
That is the last thing I have heard about my family.

Pregiding Officer: Why was be atrested?
Detainea: He is here. I don’tknow, He was in his houss when he was arrested.

The Presiding Officer read the post-Adprinistrative Review Board lnstractions {o the
Detainee and adjonrned the open session of the Administrative Review Board

The Presiding Officer opened the classified portion of the session.

The Presiding Officer adjourned the classified poartion of the session and the
Administrative Review Board was closed for deltberation and voting.

AUTHENTICATION

Icegﬁ{ythe.mmmin:dinthis transeript is a true end sccurate summary of the
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Department of Defense
Office for the Administrative Review of the Detention of Enemy
Combatants at U.S. Naval Base Guantaname Bay, Cuba

4 October 20006
TO: BARRE, MOHAMMED SOLIMAN

SUBJECT: UNCLASSIFIED SUMMARY OF EVIDENCE FOR ADMINISTRATIVE
REVIEW BOARD IN THE CASE OF BARRE, MOHAMMED SOLIMAN

I. An Administrative Review Board will be convened to review your case fo determine if your
continued detention is necessary.

2. The Administrative Review Board will conduct a comprehensive review of all reasonably
available and relevant information regarding your case. At the conclusion of this review the
Board will make a recommendation to: (1) release you to your home state; (2) transfer you to
your home state, with conditions agreed upon by the United States and your home state; or {3)
continue your detention under United States control.
3. The following primary factors favor continued detention:
a. Commitment
The detainee was identified as a Mujahedin in Afghanistan until 1992.
b. Training
1. The detainee was identified as a member of an institute operated by a senior al Qaida
member in Qandahar that used to be associated with religious and language studies near a
Mujahedin guest house.
2, The detainee was identified as a participant of jihadist training in Afghanistan.
c. Connections/Associations
The detainee knew Usama bin Laden personally and, from 1992 to 1995, worked on
Usama bin Laden’s compound in Khartoum, Sudan. The detainee worked in the building
occupied by Usama bin Laden’s security detachment. '
4. The following primary factors favor release or transfer:
a. The detainee stated he never went to Afghanistan.

b. The detainee stated he was never involved in an Islamic Militant group or knowingly
transferred funds for their cause.
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¢. The detainee stated he never heard of the al Wafa Organization prior to his arrest by the
Pakistani police.

d. The detainee stated the recipients of the funds he transferred were recorded in his business
records on his computer that was seized by authorities.

5. You will be afforded a meaningful opportunity to be heard and to present information to the
Board; this includes an opportunity to be physically present at the proceeding. The Assisting
Military Officer (AMO) will assist you in reviewing all relevant and reasonably available
unclassified information regarding your case. The AMO is not an advocate for or against
continued detention, nor may the AMO form a confidential relationship with you or represent
you in any other matter, '
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